

This publication has been developed in the framework of the project EMPAFISH (SSP8-006539) supported by the Commission of the European Communities within the Sixth Framework Programme. The views expressed in this work do not necessarily reflect those of EC or anticipates the Commission's future policy in the area.

Work Package: 3 Deliverable: D5

Dissemination Level: Public

#### Published by:



#### Citation

Alban F., Appéré G. & Boncoeur J., 2008. *Economic Analysis of Marine Protected Areas. A Literature Review*. EMPAFISH Project, Booklet nº 3. Editum 51 pp.

ISBN: 978-84-8371-732-5

Legal Deposit: ???????????????

#### **Editorial Committee**

Melanie Austen, Ruth Higgins, Stephen Mangi, Concepción Marcos, Francesc Maynou, Ángel Pérez-Ruzafa and Frederic Vandeperre

#### Cover photo and design

Ángel Pérez-Ruzafa & Concepción Marcos

#### Available from

http://www.um.es/empafish





#### Project nº SSP8-006539 EMPAFISH

### European Marine Protected Areas as tools for Fisheries management and conservation

Specific Programme "Integrating and strengthening the ERA" (6th Framework Programme), under the activity "Scientific Support to Policies" and the research priority for "Modernisation and sustainability of fisheries, including aquaculture-based production system"

## Economic Analysis of Marine Protected Areas A Literature Review

Deliverable reference number: 5

Due date of deliverable: July 2005 Actual submission date: July 2006

Start date of project: 1<sup>st</sup> March 2005 Duration: 36 months

Organisation name of lead contractor for this deliverable: Université de Bretagne Occidentale (UBO) – CEDEM

Revision: Final

Dissemination Level			
PU	Public	Х	
PP	Restricted to other programme participants (including the Commission Services)		
RE	Restricted to a group specified by the consortium (including the Commission Services)		
со	Confidential, only for members of the consortium (including the Commission Services)		

#### Contents

Forewords	1
Introduction	3
1. Experiences of economic analysis applied to MPAs	5
1.1. General overview —	5
1.2. Ecosystem protection	6
1.3. Resource conservation for sustainable fishing	7
1.3.1. Methodology	7
1.3.2. Results	8
1.4. Promotion of recreational non extractive activities	11
1.4.1. The case for developing ecotourism in MPAs	11
1.4.2. The impact of MPAs on ecotourism	12
1.4.3. Negative impacts of tourism	12
1.4.4. User fees	13
1.5. Distributional effects of MPAs	13
1.5.1. Distributional problems	13
1.5.2. Compensatory measures and participation of stakeholders	14
2. Methodological aspects	15
2.1. Cost-Benefit Analysis: principles, implementation problems, and application to MPAs	15
2.1.1. Principles and problems of implementation ————————————————————————————————————	15
2.1.2. Application of CBA to MPAs	17
2.2. Valuation techniques for non-market values	18
2.2.1. The Travel Cost Method (TCM)	18
2.2.2 The Contingent Valuation Method (CVM)	19
2.2.3. Combining TCM and CVM	20
References	21

#### **Forewords**

At the seas, the need for protecting more or less extended coastal marine areas arose, not to preserve the littoral from urban growth and human space occupation, as in most of terrestrial zones, but as a fishery management tool for recovering overexploited populations and to make fishing sustainable. However, the fact that such protection leads to a quick recovering of underwater seascapes and marine animal and vegetal biodiversity, immediately means an attractive for diving and other recreational activities promoting the urban growth and built-up of tourist facilities in areas with previously low development.

In this way, marine protected areas (MPAs) became in much more than a management tool for an extractive activity, to develop in a tourist centre of attraction and an important economic engine. In most of the cases, the capability to generate riches from tourism and associated activities, as urban development, became much higher than the profits from fisheries, emerging shares conflict, competition among uses and between public administrations. At the same time, MPAs provided excellent reference sites for research and as controls for impact assessment studies, further than for educational activities.

Because of this, to take into account the modern conception of MPAs, according to which local communities have to be effectively involved in their management, become more imperative as public participation and awareness are essential if proper environmental management is to be implemented and as the only way to prevent and solve conflicts of interests.

The whole process, from the first ecosystem approaches in fisheries management and the need to preserve habitats and areas to make fishing sustainable, to the mass tourism development around MPAs, mainly on the basis of diving, and then, the conflicts of competences between tourism, fisheries and environment administrations, have take place in less than two decades. During this time, hardly we have begun to see and to understand the effects of protection and the mechanisms and ecological processes involved. However, the effectivity of marine reserves is obvious enough to become strongly advocated as an ideal tool for the management of coastal fisheries. Since 1997 to 1999 the number of fishing marine protected areas in the EU had doubled. As a consequence of this quick development, the heterogeneity in design, objectives, characteristics, management tools, monitoring plans and involved administrations is as large as the proper number of MPAs. In the last years, the European Commission has underlined the necessity to manage this situation and had promoted policy-oriented research to establish the potential of marine protected areas for marine environmental protection, by investigating the potential of different regimes of protected areas as measures to protect sensitive and endangered species, habitats and ecosystems from the effects of fishing.

In this context the EMPAFISH project (European Marine Protected Areas as tools for FISHeries management and conservation), supported by the European Commission, has as general objectives 1) to investigate the potential of different regimes of MPAs in Europe as measures to protect sensitive and endangered species, habitats and ecosystems from the effects of fishing; 2) to develop quantitative methods to assess the effects of marine protected areas and 3) to provide EU with a set of integrated measures and policy proposals for the implementation of MPAs as fisheries and ecosystem management tools.

Work package 3 of EMPAFISH is devoted to analyze the socio-economics impacts of MPAs and to select the best subset of indicators of MPA performance, under each management regime, considering socio-economic indicators and providing a quantitative analysis of the socio-economic performance of MPAs.

The present booklet reviews the socioeconomic literature dedicated to various aspects of marine protected areas (MPAs) related to ecosystem preservation, fisheries management, recreational activities, and distributional consequences of MPAs and methodological issues for cost-benefit analysis and its application to MPAs, and the specific problem of economic valuation of non-market values. MPAs became an experience field for economists and sociologists and we are just now in the starting point.

Angel Pérez-Ruzafa

EMPAFISH Coordinator

## Economic Analysis of Marine Protected Areas A Literature Review

# Frédérique Alban, Gildas Appéré and Jean Boncoeur CEDEM / GdR AMURE, Université de Bretagne Occidentale (France)

This literature review is composed of two parts. The first part describes the socioeconomic literature dedicated to various aspects of marine protected areas (MPAs): ecosystem preservation, fisheries management, recreational activities, and distributional consequences of MPAs. The second part is devoted to methodological issues. It first deals with cost-benefit analysis and its application to MPAs, and then focuses on the specific problem of economic valuation of non-market values.

#### 1. Experiences of economic analysis applied to MPAs

#### 1.1. General overview

The literature on MPAs has dramatically increased during the 90s (Hoagland *et al.* 1995; Conover *et al.* 2000). However, social sciences, and, more specifically economics, share only a small part in this literature (e.g. Tisdell and Broadus 1989; Farrow 1996; Sumaila 1998a; Badalamenti *et al.* 2000; Milon 2000; Sumaila *et al.* 2000; Alder and Sumaila 2002). The neglect of the economic aspects of MPAs is remarkable given that the creation of an MPA may be regarded as an investment in natural capital, and typically pertains to the field of cost-benefit analysis (Hoagland *et al.* 1995; Emerton 1999; Sanchirico 2000a; Carter 2003)<sup>1</sup>.

Economists consider ecosystems as capital goods generating valuable services, some of which are marketable while others are not (e.g. Point 1992). This approach is used, for instance, by studies attempting to justify the interest of biodiversity protection on economic grounds (e.g. Brown and Goldstein 1984; Boyle and Bishop 1987; Weitzman 1993, 1998; Alexander 2000). As a result, various studies focusing on the valuation of ecosystem services have been conducted (Costanza 2000; Heal 2000; Costanza and Farber 2002; De Groot *et al.* 2002; Farber *et al.* 2002; Howarth and Farber 2002). However, natural assets are often providers of multiple services, which creates difficulties when trying to assess their economic value (Desaigues and Point 1990a). A number of assessment methods such as travel cost, hedonic pricing, and contingent valuation have been developed to estimate the economic value of these services (e.g. Randall and Stoll 1983; Desaigues and Point 1990b; De Groot 1992; Pérez *et al.* 1996; Bateman and Langford 1997; Claeys-Mekdade *et al.* 1999; Dabat and Rudloff 1999; Desaigues and Ami 2001)<sup>2</sup>. Yet, only a small part of this literature is dedicated to the economic valuation of natural assets deals within marine ecosystems (e.g. Bennett and Reynolds 1993; Loomis and Larson 1994; Cesar 1996; Costanza *et al.* 1997; Le Goffe 1999).

An important topic for economists dealing with the conservation of ecosystems is the analysis of management tools, such as MPAs. Analyzing the economic impact of an MPA on the various services provided by an ecosystem is often performed with the help of bioeconomic modelling. Bioeconomic modelling provides a simplified and general view of the impacts of an MPA on the dynamics of natural resources and of their uses. It makes it possible to simulate various management scenarios, and to analyze interactions between the different services provided by the ecosystem, thus providing a basis for the estimation of the net benefit to society generated by the MPA. Bioeconomic modelling of MPAs, however, has a short history. Literature shows that it started a decade ago, but has been rapidly growing (Sumaila and Charles 2002; Grafton et al. 2005b).

Currently, few estimates of the global economic surplus generated by MPAs are available. Most of these estimates imply that the whole array of economic values (use and non-use) provided by the ecosystem are taken into account (Pearce and Turner 1990; Munasinghe and McNeely 1994; Hoagland *et al.* 1995; IUCN 1998). However, few studies take into account non-use values, which may result in underrecording the economic value of MPAs (Hoagland *et al.* 1995). As underlined by Pendleton (1995), some economic appraisals of tropical marine parks value the activities practiced in the MPA rather than protection provided (e.g. Post 1994; Dixon *et al.* 1995).

Considering use-values, until the 2000s, the bulk of the economic literature dedicated to MPAs was focused on fisheries management (Sanchirico 2000b). During the same period, the recreational benefits of MPAs were addressed only by a small number of studies, mainly related to the tourist potential of MPAs in tropical (especially coral reef) areas (e.g. Bell 1992; Dixon *et al.* 1993, 1995; Davis *et al.* 1995; Pendleton 1995; Leeworthy and Wiley 1997). Recently, this topic has attracted an increasing number of studies (e.g. Buerger *et al.* 2000; White *et al.* 2000; Dixon *et al.* 2001; Arin and Kramer 2002; Leeworthy and Wiley 2002; Rudd and Tupper 2002; Southwick 2002; Green and Donnelly 2003; Moscardo *et al.* 2003; Moscardo and Ormsby 2004; Ormsby *et al.* 2004; Tongson and Dygico 2004; Valentine *et al.* 2004).

Economic analysis of MPAs faces another important limitation, since most models that have been developed so far are essentially theoretical. This may be explained by the gap between empirical data that are available, and data that are required for estimating the parameters of the models. As a result, most empirical applications are confined to a limited number of studies, such as temporary fishery closures (e.g. Cheng and Townsend 1993; Watson *et al.* 1993; Somers and Wang 1997), or trawling bans in some areas (e.g. Somerton

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For more details on cost-benefit analysis and its application to the case of MPAs, see section 2.1. of this review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For more details on these methods, see section 2.2. of this review.

and June 1984; Armstrong *et al.* 1993; Boncoeur *et al.* 2000; Whitmarsh *et al.* 2002; Dalton and Ralston 2004). The application of such impact studies may be regarded as partial forms of cost-benefit analysis. For example, Whitmarsh *et al.* (2002) assess the economic effects of a trawl-ban on the artisanal fishing boats in N.W. Sicily; Leeworthy and Wiley (2002) calculate the losses incurred by displaced consumptive users (commercial and recreational) following the creation of the Tortugas Marine Reserve in the Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary; and Morin (2004) assesses the economic impact of three potential scenarios of MPA sites on fishing and recreational boating. Multicriteria analysis methods are more rarely used, as in the case of Buccoo Reef Marine Park, Tobago, West Indies (Brown *et al.* 2001). There are also a few surveys of stakeholder attitudes, analysing how various groups of stakeholders have been, or might be affected by the zoning plan established within MPAs (Aussedat 1995; Suman *et al.* 1999; Dobrzynski and Nicholson 2000; Sabourin and Pennanguer 2003).

Three types of purposes may be assigned to MPAs: (i) biodiversity protection, (ii) sustainable fisheries management, and (iii) the development of non-extractive uses of the ecosystem (ecotourism and other recreational activities). Contrasting with the first two objectives, the literature on MPAs often regards the development of non-extractive uses of the ecosystem as an objective of minor importance. However, in practice, it is often the major reason that is put forward when creating an MPA, which illustrates the gap between theoretical and real-world considerations concerning MPAs (Agardy 2000; Jamieson and Levings 2001).

In many cases, a combination of objectives is assigned to a definite MPA. Some of them are complementary, while in other cases the objectives may compete with each other, inducing conflicts of interest between various stakeholders. This calls for an analysis that takes into account the complexity of the consequences of the creation of the MPA (e.g. Point 1990, 1998; Smyth 1995; Polunin *et al.* 2000; Salmona and Devardi 2001; Boncoeur *et al.* 2002; Sanchirico *et al.* 2002; Alban 2003). Some authors consider that the task of MPAs is to manage the various uses of marine ecosystems, in order to minimize their impact on environment as well as use conflicts, especially in multi-use parks. According to this view, MPAs are a tool for integrated coastal management (e.g. Barley 1993; Ehler and Basta 1993; Kelleher 1996; McArdle 1997; Costanza *et al.* 1998; Done and Reichelt 1998; Day 2002; White *et al.* 2002; Lynch *et al.* 2004).

In the following three sections, each of the above-mentioned objectives is reviewed, with a focus on the way economic literature has dealt with its value. The fourth section is dedicated to the analysis of distributional problems generated by the creation of an MPA, and to the compensatory measures that may help overcome these problems.

#### 1.2. Ecosystem protection

There is a general agreement that a major objective of MPAs is to help protect species, habitat and biodiversity. Further, MPAs are expected to contribute to the improvement of scientific knowledge on marine ecosystems (e.g. Cognetti 1986; Bohnsack 1998; Fraschetti et al. 2002). However, the shortness of this part of the review reflects the limited amount of economic literature dealing with the services provided by MPAs as a tool for ecosystem protection.

From an economic point of view, benefits related to biodiversity protection are mainly related to non-use values, and more specifically to option values (Weisbrod 1964). Nowadays, the option value of biodiversity is widely acknowledged (e.g. Weitzman 1992; Polasky et al. 1993), and a distinction is made between option and quasi-option values (e.g. Bonnieux and Desaigues 1998). The option value sensu stricto is a kind of insurance premium warranting the possibility of a future use. The quasi-option value is the value of information gained by delaying a decision concerning the use of a resource that results in irreversible effects. It is acknowledged that one of the most important services provided by biodiversity is provision of information (Faucheux and Noel 1995). In the context of uncertainty and poor knowledge characterizing marine resources management (Costanza et al. 1998), the concept of quasi-option value is highly relevant, because it emphasizes the value of increasing information (Hanna 1983). However, very few assessments of non-use values generated by MPAs may be found in the literature (Dharmaratne et al. 2000; Bhat 2003).

The preservation of ecosystems is not the only reason put forward when creating an MPA. Other reasons include the preservation of historic heritage (shipwrecks, archaeological sites...) (Cuthill 1998; Breen and Forsythe 2001) and the preservation of cultural heritage by protecting traditional activities and lifestyle of local maritime communities (White 1986; Carew-Reid 1990; Lam 1998).

#### 1.3. Resource conservation for sustainable fishing

Apart from ecosystem protection, a substantial amount of literature has been dedicated to the potential interest of MPAs for fisheries management (e.g. Bohnsack 1993; Shackell and Wilson 1995; Hall 2002; Polunin 2002; Pickering 2003; Hilborn *et al.* 2004). MPAs are supposed to help fisheries management in two ways. First, they provide direct benefits by contributing to the restoration of overfished stocks (e.g. Bohnsack 1996a; McClanahan and Mangi 2000; Roberts *et al.* 2001), and by decreasing the risk of stock collapse (Fogarty *et al.* 2000). Second, they provide an alternative to conventional fisheries management tools, especially when these tools cannot be implemented effectively (e.g. Agardy 1994a, 1994b; Bohnsack 1996, 1999; Botsford *et al.* 1997; Lauck *et al.* 1998). These different types of benefits are closely interrelated (Shackell and Wilson 1995; Parrish 1999; Syms and Carr 2001), and are also related to the benefits concerning ecosystem protection. Creating an MPA is often considered as an application of the precautionary principle, against the various sources of uncertainty<sup>3</sup> in the management of marine resources. For example, uncertainties arise from the natural variability of ecosystems, the impacts of various anthropogenic activities on these ecosystems (e.g. Lauck *et al.* 1998; Mangel 2000), and the socioeconomic system (Sumaila 2002).

This review of the economic literature dealing with MPAs as fisheries management tools will first focus on methodological aspects. It will then describe results of the research in this field.

#### 1.3.1. Methodology

Bioeconomic modelling is the major analytic tool used by economic studies concerning the role of MPAs in fisheries management (e.g. Holland and Brazee, 1996; Hannesson 1998; Conrad 1999; Sanchirico and Wilen 1999, 2002; Holland 2000; Pezzey and Roberts 2000; Anderson 2002a; Holland and Sanchirico 2004; Sanchirico 2004; Schnier 2005). Several literature reviews have dealt with this topic (Guénette *et al.* 1998; Pickering 2003; Grafton *et al.* 2005b; Pelletier and Mahévas 2005).

Bioeconomic models of MPAs may be classified into two major categories.

Models that are directly derived, also known as spatially non-explicit bioeconomic models. Most of these are equilibrium models dealing with one species and one gear, and rely on the assumptions of space homogeneity. Their basic purpose is to assess the way fishing is impacted by closing an area representing a given proportion of the fishing zone. The spillover effect of the reserve is modelled with the help of a transfer function, usually based on the difference between stock density inside and outside the reserve, and on the mobility of fish. Models of this type may vary in terms of complexity. However, they usually suggest that the biological and socioeconomic consequences of creating an MPA depend on a range of factors, such as reserve size, fish mobility, and degree of control over fishing effort. For example, Holland and Brazee (1996), making use of a structural model, show that creating an MPA may help increase the level of sustainable catch in an overfished fishery, provided the spontaneous tendency to increase fishing effort can be controlled. Hannesson (1998) and Anderson (2002), use a global logistic model to address the question of the usefulness of an MPA in a deterministic context, assuming freedom of access into the fishing zone. Sumaila (1998) and Conrad (1999) depict the benefits of MPAs for fisheries in a stochastic environment.

The standard assumptions of a single species fishery and space-homogeneity are in many cases oversimplified, and may lead to inappropriate conclusions on the impact of an MPA on fisheries. The multispecies bioeconomic model developed by Holland (2000) shows that the impact of an MPA varies according to species. Introducing space-heterogeneity in his bioeconomic model under the form of "biological hot spots", Schnier (2005) shows that the optimal size of the MPA depends not only on the productive capacity of the reserve and the surrounding fishing grounds, but also on the degree of heterogeneity between the two regions.

Spatially explicit models form the second category of bioeconomic models of MPAs. The literature on these models is more recent than the one dealing with the first category, but it has been growing fast. A recent review of the literature on spatial modelling applied to fisheries economics can be found in a special issue of the journal *Marine Resource Economics* (Vol.19 (1), 2004) (Curtis and McConnel 2004; Dalton and Ralston 2004; Hicks *et al.* 2004; Holland 2004; Holland *et al.* 2004; Sanchirico 2004; Smith and Wilen 2004; Strand 2004). The seminal paper in this category was written by Sanchirico and Wilen (1999). Further developments may be found in Sanchirico

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Five types of uncertainty are distinguished in the management of renewable natural resources: measurement errors, methodological errors, modelling errors, estimation errors, implementation errors (e.g. Gates 1984; Caddy and Mahon 1995; Berkes *et al.* 2001; Syms and Carr 2001).

and Wilen (2001), and Sanchirico (2004, 2005). The basic principle of these models is to represent a discrete number of subpopulations distributed in separate zones (patches), but interconnected by biological and economic relations (metapopulations). Spatially explicit models are usually multispecies. Their main focus is on the location of MPAs rather than on their size. The choice of the location needs to integrate the major oceanographic processes in the region (Carr and Reed 1993), the ecological characteristics of the habitats, the distance of larval dispersion (Quinn *et al.* 1993), and socioeconomic factors.

Developing spatially explicit models requires a realistic description of microeconomic behaviours, not only through time but also through space, in order to explain the mobility of fishing fleets (Hilborn and Kennedy 1992; Chakravorty and Nemoto 2001; Smith and Wilen 2003; Holland *et al.* 2004; Mahévas and Pelletier 2004). Several techniques may be used to this end. The most commonly used are gravity models (Caddy 1975; Seijo *et al.* 1993; Walters *et al.* 1993, 1999; Seijo and Defeo 1994; Walters and Bonfil 1999), and random utility models (Bockstael and Opaluch 1983; Eales and Wilen 1986; Holland and Sutinen 1999; Wilen *et al.* 2002; Hutton *et al.* 2004). Other analytic tools, such as game theory (Beattie and Sumaila 2002; Sumaila 2002) and multi-agent modelling (Thébaud and Soulié 2003) may also be used to simulate fishers' behaviour.

#### 1.3.2. Results

Until recently, the literature on MPAs has provided limited empirical evidence on the socioeconomic benefits of MPAs to fishers (Crowder et al. 2000; Fogarty et al. 2000). According to Crowder et al. (2000), data were available for only 28 MPAs out of a total of 1300.

An increase in catches ?

A number of authors are sceptical about a possible increase in catches due to the implementation of an MPA (Schmidt 1997; Hatcher 1998; Shipp 2002; Willis *et al.* 2003).

In theory, the MPA should increase fish catches in the fishing zone neighbouring the no-take zone, thus overbalancing the negative impact of decreasing the size of the fishing zone (e.g. Polacheck 1990; Demartini 1993). Moreover, over time, the MPA should bring about stability in catches, by making fish stocks less vulnerable to overfishing (e.g. García-Charton and Pérez-Ruzafa 1999). This "buffer effect" may be considered as a net benefit for fishers provided they are risk-adverse (Conrad 1999; Carter 2003). However, this might not be the case, according to studies investigating the way fishers choose their fishing place (Holland and Sutinen 1999; Mistiaen and Strand 2000; Dalton and Ralston 2004; Smith and Wilen 2004). According to these studies, the benefits derived from the buffer-effect are not regarded as high enough by fishers to balance the loss of some of their former fishing zones. There is a need for more systematic surveys on the decision criteria of fishers, regarding the choice of their fishing zone (Hoagland *et al.* 2002; Holland 2002, 2004).

A case-study of a marine reserve in the Philippines, used by many authors, suggests the existence of a positive effect on catches in adjacent fishing zones (Russ and Alcala 1996). In fact, the proof in this case was *a contrario*, since the survey revealed a decrease in landings following the reopening of the reserve to fishing. This study provided some confirmation of the assumption of a transfer effect of adult fish from the reserve to the fishing zone. Another study showed an increase in catches per unit of effort (CPUE) in the St-Lucia islands, by comparing the CPUE of artisanal fishermen before the creation of the reserve and 5 years later (Roberts *et al.* 2001). Other studies show encouraging results in New-Zealand (Kelly *et al.* 2002), and in Africa (McClanahan and Mangi 2000; Kamukuru *et al.* 2004; Kaunda-Arara and Rose 2004). Recreational fishing is also used as an example to demonstrate the benefits of MPAs for fishing. According to Johnson *et al.* (1999), the change in the frequency of official records concerning sport fishing indicates a positive impact of the reserve that was created around the Cape Cañaveral launching base (Florida). The literature also provides evidence based on fishers declarations (Rowley 1994; Dobrzynski and Nicholson 2000), or on indirect elements such as the arrival of new fishers, or the buying of new boats (Boudouresque 1990; Binche 1992; Ramos 1992).

An impact on prices?

The implementation of a marine reserve may have different consequences on the price for fish: (i) an impact due to the variation of quantities landed (see above); (ii) a "quality" impact, due to a shift in the size and species composition of landings (Pauly et al. 1998),

and to better marketing opportunities (Sanchirico *et al.* 2002). Fishers may also take advantage of the "ecologically correct" image of the fishing zone of the MPA to sell their fish at a higher price (Charles 2001). However, these price effects of MPAs have been seldom studied, as underlined by Sanchirico *et al.* (2002) and Carter (2003). Models usually assume constant ex-vessel prices (e.g. Pezzey *et al.* 2000).

The impacts on fishing effort and costs

The creation of an MPA is likely to result in a spatial reallocation of fishing effort (Fisheries Society of the British Isles 2001; Sanchirico et al. 2002). In order to maintain their level of catch, fishers are forced to maximise their effort in those areas that are left open to fishing (Gulf of Mexico Fishery Management Council 1999; Parrish et al. 2001). A "fishing the line" effect, i.e. a concentration of fishers close to the boundary of the reserve is frequently noted, and is likely to outweigh some of the benefits expected from the MPA (Dobrzynski and Nicholson 2000; Christie et al. 2002; Kelly et al. 2002). In the long run, an MPA may induce a shift of fishing effort towards other fisheries, which may create a number of negative effects in these fisheries (Smit 1995; Murawski et al. 2000; Sanchirico 2000a; Le Gallic 2001). Transfers of fishing effort may create new fisheries conflicts (Bohnsack 1996b), which result in a decrease of the socioeconomic benefits of MPAs (Holland 2000).

Sanchirico and Wilen (1999) show that the effects of reserves on fishing are highly dependent on how fishers spatially allocate their effort. Presenting an extension of the model developed by Sanchirico and Wilen (2001), Anderson (2002b) analyses vessel behaviours taking into account the distance from port. Fishers have a tendency to allocate their effort to areas that generate higher relative rents. Applying this idea to the California sea urchin fishery with a deterministic model, Smith and Wilen (2003) show that accounting for spatial behaviour of fishers is likely to deceive optimistic expectations concerning the positive effect on discounted rents of creating a reserve in a heavily fished area. After the creation of a no-take zone, fishers are likely to increase their effort in the area which is left open to fishing; if this shift is not controlled, it may undermine the expected benefits of the MPA as regards fishing mortality. The perception of expected rent may be influenced by the knowledge about resource location, measured for instance by past catches (Holland and Sutinen 1999; Holland 2000). It may also be influenced by species prices (Holland and Sutinen 1999) and harvesting costs (e.g. cost of travelling to fishing grounds). Grafton et al. (2005b) conclude that this type of effect generates spatial 'economic gradients' that may be quite different from 'biological gradients' generated by larval export and adult transfers.

The spatial redistribution of fishing effort induced by the MPA has both direct and indirect influence on fishing costs. If fishers are compelled to go fishing farther from their homeport, this will increase their operational costs (Binche 1992; Murawski 2000; Smith and Wilen 2004). Moreover, if they have to go fishing in places that are unfamiliar, this will increase the time they need to look for fish (Boudouresque 1990; Ramos 1992). The increase in time devoted to travelling and to search for fish results in less time devoted to catching the fish (e.g. Carter 2003), which creates an incentive for fishers to invest more money in electronic devices for detecting fish stocks (Sanchirico *et al.* 2002). Another possible consequence of the MPA is to increase the risk associated with fishing, by inducing under equipped and under experienced fishers to go fishing further offshore (Holland 2000). The costs resulting from space transfers of effort vary according to the degree of dependency of fishers on a particular fishing zone (Holland 2002; Sumaila 2002; Carter 2003). With few alternatives, small boats are usually more concerned by the closure of an area than large boats (Boncoeur 2004).

Not only is spatial distribution of fishing effort likely to be affected by the implementation of an MPA: if this implementation succeeds in increasing the CPUE in the adjacent fishing zone, and if effort is left uncontrolled in the fishing zone, it is likely to increase the total level of fishing effort, until the additional rent created by the MPA is totally dissipated (Hannesson 1998; Gulf of Mexico Fishery Management Council 1999). Under this scenario, the MPA results in increasing the total amount of fishing costs and exacerbating the tendency to overcapacity.

A possible second rank optimum

MPAs are often presented as an alternative to conventional fisheries management tools (e.g. Plan Development Team 1990; O'Neill 1993; Agardy 1994b; Davis and Dugan 1994; Bohnsack 1996; Hall 1998; Parrish *et al.* 2001). While these tools (e.g. TACs and quotas) reflect

mainly a single species management, some authors consider that marine reserves favour an ecosystem approach to fisheries management (Sumaila *et al.* 2000; Palumbi 2002). In the context of inshore fisheries, generally characterized by a great complexity (multi-species, multi-gear fisheries), conventional management tools often perform poorly. Moreover, socio-political pressures often make it difficult to reduce fishing effort (Sumaila 1998b; Roberts 2000). The choice of a specific fisheries management tool is frequently more influenced by political considerations than by scientific arguments (Guénette *et al.* 1998).

Where conventional management tools result in a perfect control of fishing mortality, it may be argued that there is no strong case for creating a marine reserve, from a fisheries management point of view. Hannesson's model (1998) suggests that the first rank optimum (maximum maximorum) is reached when the share of the no-take zone in the potential fishing zone is zero. However, in the case where socio-political factors do not make it possible to lower the fishing effort below a given level, creating a marine reserve may correspond to a second rank optimum, because catches and rent, for a given level of effort, may be higher with the reserve than without it (Holland and Brazee 1996; Boncoeur et al. 2002). Such a result requires that fishing mortality is not left fully uncontrolled outside the reserve, i.e. that MPAs are considered as a complement rather than as an alternative to other fisheries management tools (e.g. Mangel 1998).

#### Taking uncertainty into account

According to several authors, the uncertainty characterizing fisheries management is the major factor justifying the use of MPAs as fisheries management tools (Clark 1996; Lauck *et al.* 1998; Sumaila 1998a; Conrad 1999; Mangel 2000; Grafton *et al.* 2004). Reserves act as a hedge against inevitable uncertainty (Ludwig *et al.* 1993; Botsford *et al.* 1997), especially where harvest rates and population stocks are measured with error, and harvests are less than fully controllable (Clark 1996). Using a dynamic source-sink model with two forms of uncertainty, Grafton *et al.* (2004) conclude that the key benefit of reserves is that they increase resilience, i.e. the speed it takes a population to return to a former state following a negative shock. Increased resilience due to a reserve can also increase resource rents, even with optimal harvesting. This conclusion contradicts the idea that reserves have no value if harvesting is optimal (e.g. Hannesson 1998). Simulating the economic value of a marine reserve in the case of the northern cod fishery of Atlantic Canada, Grafton *et al.* (2005a) conclude that, assuming environmental variability, an optimal-sized marine reserve offers the possibility of a 'win-win-win' outcome: it can increase the resource rent, reduce the recovery time of the stock after a negative shock, and lower the risk of a catastrophic collapse.

#### The problem of management costs

MPAs are often presented as a way to simplify fisheries management, and therefore to minimize cost. Three arguments are usually put forward: (i) spatial measures are easy to understand, which makes them easier to accept (e.g. Plan Development Team 1990; Roberts and Hawkins 2000); (ii) designing MPAs does not require a large amount of information, which makes them easy to create (e.g. Bohnsack 1993); (iii) checking enforcement is relatively easy (e.g. Roberts and Polunin 1993; Causey 1995).

However, these arguments are controversial, especially as regards enforcement costs. While some authors think that costs are lower with MPAs than with conventional management tools (e.g. Armstrong *et al.* 2001; Carter 2003), other authors support the opposite view (Parrish 1999; Sanchirico *et al.* 2002). Balmford *et al.* (2004) have provided an estimate of the running costs of MPAs, based on a survey of 83 MPAs worldwide, with a questionnaire sent to MPA managers. According to the results of this survey, annual running costs per unit area spanned six orders of magnitude, and were higher in MPAs that were smaller, closer to coasts, and in high-cost, developed countries. Moreover, the total annual running cost per unit area of an MPA were higher for MPAs that were fully protected from fishing.

It is widely acknowledged that the effectiveness of enforcement is a weak point in fisheries management (e.g. Jones 1994). Natural reserves (continental or marine) are often regarded as an incentive to poaching (Bromley 1991; Milner-Gulland and Leader-Williams 1992). Poaching is likely to reduce the benefits expected from the creation of a reserve (Jones 1994; Dobrzynski and Nicholson 2000), and several authors consider this problem as the major cause of failure of MPAs (Bohnsack 1993; Attwood *et al.* 1997; Murray *et al.* 1999a). According to Crowder *et al.* (2000), simplifying enforcement requires that the borders of the reserve are easy to control. Other factors such as the distance from the shore, the size and the type of MPA are also considered. According to various authors, the potential benefits of MPAs in terms of enforcement costs depend on the use of new information and communication technologies, such as geographical positioning systems (GPS) (e.g. A.A.A.S. 2001).

Support by fishers may have a favourable influence on enforcement costs (e.g. Causey 1995; Ticco 1995; Bohnsack 1996b; Parrish *et al.* 2001; Hallwood 2004), developing in some cases a phenomenon of self-surveillance by users (Sutinen and Kuperan 1999). For many authors, the success of a MPA is conditioned by the support of users (e.g. Alban *et al.* 2004; Helvey 2004; Scholz *et al.* 2004), which in turn depends on the degree of enforcement of the rules, and on their feelings regarding the equity of these rules and the way they are enforced (Bromley 1991; Crosby 1994).

#### 1.4. Promotion of recreational non-extractive activities

MPAs provide a number of opportunities for recreational users to enjoy a good quality marine environment when practising non-extractive activities such as sailing, diving, kayaking, or marine mammal watching (e.g. Hundloe 1980; Bohnsack 1998; Irving Oxley and Brown 2003). Tourism related to these types of activities is often called "ecotourism" or "nature tourism"<sup>4</sup>.

Though less developed than the literature devoted to fisheries management, the part of the economics literature on MPAs dealing with ecotourism is growing fast.

The methodological tools used in this literature are different from those used by studies dedicated to fisheries management. Up to now, bioeconomic modelling has been seldom used for investigating the relations between MPAs and recreational non-extractive activities. Valuation techniques of non-market benefits to visitors, such as travel cost and contingent valuation methods, are increasingly used. The geographical scope of studies dedicated to recreational activities in MPAs is mainly composed of tropical areas. Diving in coral reef zones is the paradigmatic case, where the flow of divers is analysed in relation with the increase in fish abundance and good quality of coral due to the MPA.

This section is organised in four parts: (i) the case for developing ecotourism in MPAs; (ii) evaluation of the impact of MPAs on ecotourism; (iii) negative impacts of tourism, and (iv) access fees.

#### 1.4.1. The case for developing ecotourism in MPAs

Consumers' surplus (more specifically visitors' surplus) is increased by the protection of some specific components of the ecosystem (corals, marine mammals,...). In the case of diving for instance, the satisfaction, and hence the willingness to pay of divers increase with the quality of the ecosystem (Davis and Tisdell 1996; Rudd and Tupper 2002), and the greater probability of watching rare species or large-sized individuals is an incentive for divers to frequent MPAs. As a result, developing ecotourism may be regarded as a way to translate the benefits of ecosystem preservation into economic terms, i.e. to increase the value of MPAs and to reconcile ecosystem protection with economic development (Davis 1981; Tisdell 1991; Agardy 1993; Dixon 1993; Lindberg and Huber 1993; Munasinghe and McNeely 1994; Wells 1997; Anaya 1998; Salm and Clark 2000; Weaver 2002). Incomes provided by the development of ecotourism may contribute to the funding for the protection of the environment, covering a part of the management costs of the MPA. Ecotourism may also stimulate local economic development, provided local communities take part in the management and operation of activities related to ecotourism (Salm 1985; Meganck 1991; Kenchington 1993; Vogt 1998; Zabala 1999). As far as these activities rely on the quality of the environment, ecotourism may be regarded as an economic incentive to protect ecosystems and a way to promote their sustainable use (Myers 1972; Goodwin 1996; IUCN 1998, 2000).

Several other arguments are used to justify the development of non-extractive recreational activities inside MPAs:

- 1. Economic benefits provided by the development of non-extractive uses in MPAs could be used to compensate the costs incurred from restricting fishing and other extractive activities (Kelleher and Kenchington 1984; Dixon and Sherman 1990; Kenchington 1991, 1993; Craik 1994; Vogt 1998; Fogarty *et al.* 2000; Graham and Heyman 2000; Dixon *et al.* 2001).
- 2. The development of ecotourism might improve the social acceptability of the project, by providing sources of income to the populations living in the vicinity of the MPA (Robinson 1977; Salm 1985; Dixon *et al.* 1993; Post 1994; Aussedat 1995; Eichbaum *et al.* 1996; Attwood *et al.* 1997; Hockey and Branch 1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Wells (1997) defines nature tourism as "those forms of tourism where natural attractions of ecological significance are the destination". There is a large debate on the definition of nature tourism, or ecotourism (Goodwin 1996).

- 3. Non-extractive activities could contribute to the educational role of the MPA, by providing users with visible proofs of the results of protection measures, and through the development of educational programs (Spoto and Franzosini 1991; Forestell 1993; Brunckhorst 1994; Kaza 1995; Eichbaum *et al.* 1996).
- 4. The development of ecotourism may become a political incentive for ecosystem protection (e.g. Eagles *et al.* 2002). For instance, it has been argued that reopening whaling in a given country would be an incentive for whale-watchers to go to other countries, because they are ethically opposed to whaling (Orams 2002).

#### 1.4.2. The impact of MPAs on ecotourism

The increasing interest for outdoor recreational activities, within a good quality natural environment, results in the development of ecotourism inside natural protected areas (Grandbois 1999; Eagles *et al.* 2002). As regards MPAs, special attention has been paid to two activities: diving in coral reef areas (e.g. Bell 1992; Richez 1992; Suman and Shivlani 1998; Shivlani and Suman 2000; White *et al.* 2000; Graham *et al.* 2001; Rudd and Tupper 2002; Shaalan 2005), and marine mammals or shark watching (e.g. Anon. 1997; Davis *et al.* 1997; Graham and Heyman 2000; Hoagland *et al.* 2000; Mazaudier and Michaud 2000; Hoyt and Hvenegaard 2002)<sup>5</sup>.

Many authors underline the attractiveness of MPAs for tourism (e.g. Dixon and Sherman 1990; Agardy 1993; U.N.E.P. 1994; Dharmaratne *et al.* 2000; Shafer and Inglis 2000). Famous MPAs, such as the Great Barrier Reef in Australia, have become real "tourist attractions" (Kenchington 1991). In Europe, several case studies in the Mediterranean sea describe an increase in tourism within MPAs (Ramos 1992; Ribera-Siguan 1992; Richez 1992; Badalamenti *et al.* 2000). However, there are fears that creating an MPA results in decreasing tourist flows, due to regulatory restrictions imposed on tourists or their activities (e.g. Salmona and Verardi 2001). In developing countries, the economic effects of MPAs due to tourism are often disappointing (Wells and Brandon 1992). Only a small number of MPAs in these countries attract a significant number of tourists, a situation which is often due to the lack of good quality accommodation for visitors.

Where observations show an increase in tourist visits to an MPA, it may be difficult to separate what is due to the natural increase in tourism, and what is due to the "MPA effect". It is often easier to survey the relation between tourism and improved quality of the ecosystem by monitoring specific activities. The analysis of visitors experience has long been limited to terrestrial parks. Most field surveys of visitors have focused mainly on the reasons for choosing a given protected area, the influence of various ecosystem attributes and the attitude of visitors towards overcrowding (Ormsby et al. 2004). This type of analysis is now also used in MPAs (Shafer and Benzaken 1998; Mundet and Ribera 2001; Valentine et al. 2004). In the case of scuba-diving and snorkelling, methods such as travel cost and contingent valuation have been used to assess the benefits provided to visitors of MPAs by environmental quality (Davis et al. 1995; Graham et al. 2001; Rudd and Tupper 2002; Bhat 2003; Wielgus et al. 2003).

#### 1.4.3. Negative impacts of tourism

Besides its positive contribution, the development of tourism in MPAs may also have some negative impacts, which have to be taken into account in a cost-benefit perspective.

First, an uncontrolled increase in tourists is likely to generate congestion, or overcrowding (Dixon and Sherman 1990; Tisdell 1991; Davis and Tisdell 1995, 1996; Goodwin 1996; Bhat 2003). Such an increase may result in a lower quality of environment, leading to undesirable consequences from a cultural point of view (loss of authenticity). There is evidence to show that mass tourism has negative environmental consequences (e.g. Davis *et al.* 1995; Shaalan 2005). In the case of MPAs, divers may damage habitats, for instance when their fins hit corals or when they trample on reef-flat communities (e.g. Hawkins and Roberts 1993; Harriott *et al.* 1997), or when they grasp hold of kelps in strong current flows (Schaeffer *et al.* 1999). They may also alter the behaviour of fish, especially fish feeding (Milazzo *et al.* 2005). Marine mammal watching may also alter the behaviour of animals, by imposing stress on them (Duffus and Dearden 1993; Mazaudier and Michaud 2000). Mooring on corals or on sea-grass beds by yachts or dive boats generates environmental damage (Francour *et al.* 1999).

These factors, which contradict the objectives of protection assigned to MPAs, may in turn decrease the attractiveness of the MPA to tourists, thereby generating a "tourism cycle" (Butler 1980; Lindberg 1991; Murray *et al.* 1999b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Swimming with whales is becoming a new "niche" for the development of ecotourism (Davis 1998; Valentine et al. 2004).

To avoid these negative effects, the development of tourism in an MPA should be kept within the limit of the carrying capacity of the ecosystem (Heberlein *et al.* 1986; Marion and Rogers 1994; Davis and Tisdell 1995; Weaver 2002; Zakai and Chadwick-Furman 2002; Ormsby *et al.* 2004), a biological concept that has been extended by several authors to social considerations, concerning the relations between local communities and tourists (Murphy 1983; Heberlein *et al.* 1986; Stewart 1993; Arrow *et al.* 1995).

To this end, it is necessary to control numbers and mobility of visitors inside the park, to minimize the impact that high tourist numbers have on the quality of the environment and on local communities (Agardy 1993; Carter 2003). A variety of management tools may be used for this purpose (A.B.A.R.E. 1993), e.g. zoning of activities, access fees, permits for some activities. Artificial reefs are sometimes used (Brock 1994), in order to limit the impact of diving on natural sites.

#### 1.4.4. User fees

Introducing user fees is a way to regulate access to scarce resources. It may therefore help to prevent overcrowding and other negative impacts on ecosystems due to excessive numbers of tourists. It may also be a way to capture part of the consumers' surplus, in order to make the protected area self-sustaining, i.e. to finance management costs and conservation. User fees have for a long time been used in terrestrial parks (e.g. Wicks and Crompton 1986; Lindberg 1991; Lindberg and Huber 1993; Chase *et al.* 1998; Anon. 1999a, 1999b; Vourc'h and Natali 2000; Sibly 2001; Alpizar 2006), and are now increasing being applied in MPAs (Mitchell and Barborak 1991; Dharmaratne *et al.* 2000; White *et al.* 2000; Graham *et al.* 2001; Lindberg and Halpenny 2001; Arin and Kramer 2002; Bhat 2003; Green and Donnelly 2003).

According to Costanza *et al.* (1997), coral reefs could generate high economic returns from recreational activities. However, the actual financial returns are usually quite low since implementing access fees for recreational activities is sometimes considered unsuitable for the marine environment. Nevertheless, examples of successful user fee systems can be found in several locations, such as Bonaire (Netherlands Antilles), Sabah (Malaysia), Palau, Galápagos, and other sites in Africa, the Caribbean and Asia (Tongson and Dygico 2004). For example, in the Tubbataha Reef National Marine Park (Philippines), after two years of fee collection, the total fee collected covered 28% of the annual recurring costs and nearly 41% of the core costs to protect the reefs (Tongson and Dygico 2004).

#### 1.5. Distributional effects of MPAs

The creation of an MPA does not only modify the global amount of welfare provided to society by natural assets, but it also affects its distribution, a consequence which is made obvious in the case where the creation of the MPA is regarded as an opportunity to reconsider the use rights of various stakeholders (Andaloro and Tunesi 2000; Milon 2000; Carter 2003).

Even in the favourable case where the global net surplus of welfare generated by an MPA is clearly positive, its distributional impact may be unfavourable to some groups of stakeholders. Analysing this impact makes it possible to set up compensatory measures. It also underlines the importance of institutional factors.

#### 1.5.1. Distributional problems

The impacts of MPAs on various groups of stakeholders differ. This may result in conflicts and often makes local communities reluctant to support MPA projects (Emerton 1999; Dobrzynski and Nicholson 2000; Sabourin and Pennanguer 2003).

The development of tourism may help improve the welfare of local communities, provided a substantial part of its benefits accrue to these communities (Munasinghe and McNeely 1994). However, this is not necessarily the case, particularly in developing countries, where the opportunity cost of conservation for local communities is an important issue, due to the scarcity of jobs (e.g. Hough 1988; Tisdell 1991; Fauzi and Anggraini Buchary 2002; Ferraro 2002). Moreover, the development of tourism may have adverse socio-cultural impacts on the local communities (e.g. Badalamenti *et al.* 2000). Frustration may grow in these communities, particularly if they are not involved in the decisions concerning the creation and management of the MPAs (Hoagland *et al.* 1995; Sanchirico *et al.* 2002).

The real distributional impacts of an MPA vary according to circumstances. Distributional impacts depend on the size and location of the reserve compared to the fishery, the level of development of the country, and the state of the local labour market. However, the acceptability of the project mainly depends on its perception by stakeholders. People may regard the creation of an MPA as an exclusion from a space they are accustomed to consider as available for free access (Alcala 1988). Fishers, in particular, may be reluctant to accept the creation of zones where fishing is forbidden while other uses, such as scuba-diving, are authorized (Mondardini 1998). In some cases, they regard the creation of an MPA as a signal of the end of their activity (Dobrzynski and Nicholson 2000). However, in other cases, professional fishers may be an important user group supporting the MPA (Aussedat 1995). Many people feel that the MPA will benefit an elite, to the detriment of the majority (Agardy 1994). This feeling is usually stronger when people do not have an acute perception of the degree of degradation of the ecosystem, a perception that is unevenly distributed among groups of users (e.g. Chuenpagdee *et al.* 2002).

#### 1.5.2. Compensatory measures and participation of stakeholders

If an MPA generates a positive global net surplus, it is possible, according to the Kaldor-Hicks criterion, to adopt compensatory measures in order to correct the negative distributional impact of the MPA on some stakeholders. Such measures may improve the social acceptability of the project (Burtraw 1991; Rettig 1994; Hoagland *et al.* 1995). They also help to preserve the belief in the fairness of institutions, which may improve the likelihood of compliance with the rules, and limit the transactions costs related to the change (e.g. Blume and Rubinfield 1984; Farrow 1996).

In the case of MPAs, a wide range of compensatory measures are considered: money transfers (National Park Service 2000), building of harbour facilities (Rettig 1994), assistance to the increase spatial access for boats (Carter 2003), assistance with the development of alternative fishing activities (Tunesi and Diviacco 1993; Rettig 1994), assistance with converting to or diversifying into tourism-related activities (Watson *et al.* 1997; Alban 1998; Vogt 1998; Alban *et al.* 2004), buyback programs (Sanchirico *et al.* 2002), allocation of exclusive use-rights, such as catch quotas (Rieser 2000) and territorial use rights of fishing (Andaloro and Tunesi 2000). However, some of these measures may have undesirable effects (Rettig 1994). According to Roberts *et al.* (2001), this helps to explain why direct money transfers are seldom used in developing countries. Several authors also underline the fact that compensatory measures should be transitional (e.g. National Research Council 2001).

The institutional context is often regarded as a key-factor in the success of an MPA. Numerous authors stress the importance of the participation of stakeholders in the decision making process concerning the creation and management of the MPA (e.g. Norse 1993; Stewart 1993; Hoagland *et al.* 1995; Wells and White 1995; Beaumont 1997; Brown *et al.* 2001; Pollnac *et al.* 2001; Fauzi and Anggraini Buchary 2002; Alban *et al.* 2004).

#### 2. Methodological aspects

The second part of this literature review deals initially with cost-benefit analysis and its application to MPAs. It then focuses on the problem of valuation of non-market values.

#### 2.1. Cost-Benefit Analysis: principles, implementation problems, and application to MPAs

As discussed above, various reasons may lead to the creation of an MPA. These can be summarised as (i) ecosystem preservation, (ii) fisheries management, and (iii) development of recreational non-extractive activities ("ecotourism"). An MPA may be created for combinations of these reasons, but simultaneously pursuing various objectives implies taking into account the complexity of the consequences induced by the creation of the MPA, and the possible conflicting interests of various stakeholder groups (Polunin *et al.* 2000).

From an economic point of view, assessing the consequences of a public project, e.g. creating an MPA, should take two criteria into account (Squire and van der Tak 1985):

- 1. efficiency: what is the global surplus generated by the project, i.e. the net additional wealth that one may expect it will generate for society?
- 2. equity: how will costs and benefits related to the project be shared between social groups, and what type of compensatory measures might be set in order to compensate the groups that might suffer from the project?

Assessing the surplus generated by a project and the way it will be shared among members of society falls within the scope of economics. Value judgements concerning the fairness of this distribution (and, as a consequence, with the relevance of possible compensatory measures that might correct this distribution) are typically a political topic. In this field, the professional competence of the economist does not go further than characterising the possible impact of various compensatory measures.

The classical approach to assessing the global surplus generated by a public project and its distribution within society is called *cost-benefit* analysis (CBA). After a short presentation of the principles and problems of implementation of this method, we survey the question of its application to the case of MPAs.

#### 2.1.1 Principles and problems of implementation

Briefly summarised, the philosophy of CBA (e.g. Bénard 1985) consists of:

- 1. making a census of all stakeholders (individuals or groups affected, either directly or indirectly by the project);
- 2. for each stakeholder, valuing the *market and non-market* costs and benefits induced by the project *in monetary terms*, and computing the resulting balance;
- 3. aggregating these balances in order to calculate the global surplus of the project.

As an aid to decision-making, the method is generally used for calculating several alternative scenarios. The scenario that is normally selected is the one with the highest global surplus, provided that it respects a set of constraints that should be specified *ex ante* (one of these scenarios may be the *status quo*).

Many problems may arise when implementing CBA, with an intensity varying according to the nature of the considered project. Part of these problems falls within the general scope of project analysis, whether these projects are private or public. In this field, difficulties may concern the determination of the variables and relations that are liable to influence the yield of the project (production functions, costs, demand), and, *a fortiori*, the anticipation of their evolution. Other problems are specific to the public character of the projects that are assessed through CBA. These include:

#### a) the problem of determining precisely the whole set of stakeholders

Not only direct stakeholders (producers, financing bodies, direct users) should be taken into account. It is necessary to determine the consequences of the project for the whole society (Gaudement and Walliser 1983), which implies for example taking into account upstream producers, consequences for the balance of external trade, or the state budget. The «effects method» (Chervel and Le Gall 1981), which makes use of tools such as input-output tables, aims to calculate chain perturbations generated by a public project throughout the economy of the country. However, the theoretical foundation of this method is a controversial subject (Bénard 1985), and, from a more practical point of view, the data it requires are not always available, and their accuracy or reliability may be questionable. Moreover, in some cases, the very nature of stakeholders may be hard to define precisely. For instance, in the case of a project aiming at protecting a site with a heritage character, the whole set of beneficiaries may be much larger than the population of the visitors of the site.

#### b) The problem of expressing non-market costs and benefits in monetary terms

Non-market costs and benefits may be related to two kinds of values:

\(\) non-market use values, which are related to non-market human activities (e.g. value of fish caught by a recreational fisherman, or opportunity cost of time which he devotes to this activity);

(non-use values, which are essentially non-market: existence, bequest and option value (e.g. value of biodiversity).

Non-market costs and benefits are usually critical to the evaluation of a public project. However, the underlying values, unlike market-values, are not naturally expressed in monetary terms. Several techniques have been developed to address this problem. These include:

\(\) hedonic pricing and travel costs, which consist of measuring indirectly the value that is attributed to a non-market benefit on the basis of the price that the beneficiaries actually accept to pay for an associated market benefit;

the contingent valuation method, which aims at directly measuring the value attributed to a non-market benefit by asking concerned people what would be their willingness to pay for it, or what would be their willingness to accept in exchange of being deprived of it.

These techniques are far from perfect. Their scope is not general, their methodology may be difficult to implement, and the reliability of their results is a controversial matter (for more details on travel cost and contingent method, see section 2.2. below).

#### c) The problem of correctly expressing some market values

If market values, unlike non-market values, may be directly observed in monetary terms, the results of these observations do not necessarily provide results that can be considered as relevant for CBA. This problem is twofold:

\( At a given date, observed (actual) prices may not represent correctly the social costs and benefits of scarce resources that are used and of commodities that are produced, because of various distortions on markets (non-neutral taxes, subsidies, monopolistic positions, custom rights, politically determined exchange rates, externalities...). The so-called «reference prices method» (Squire and van der Tak 1985), which consists of computing a set of shadow prices on the basis of an optimisation program (representing the objective-function and the constraints of the project) is theoretically satisfying but may be in practice difficult to implement.

Costs and benefits which the project generates at various time periods may be compared only through the actualisation technique. The level of the adopted discount rate may influence heavily the results of the analysis, especially if the project is to have important long-term consequences. The choice of this rate, for public projects is difficult and controversial. The terms of the problem may be briefly described as follows: the more scarce is the saving for funding the project, the higher the discount rate should be; at the same time, a high discount rate automatically disregards long term effects of the project, which may create a «short-sight» bias in the assessment of the project, but also a problem of intergenerational equity (for a discussion of the role of the time-discount rate in the context of fisheries management, see e.g. Hannesson 1993).

In order to mitigate some of these difficulties, a less ambitious method, «cost-efficiency analysis», is sometimes used. According to this method, the objective to reach is exogenous, and the various scenarios are ranked according to their social cost.

#### 2.1.2. Application of CBA to MPAs

There is a wide scope for the use of CBA in the field of environmental economics (Hanley and Spash 1993). The creation of a MPA typically falls within this scope (Hoagland *et al.* 1995; Sanchirico 2000; Parrish *et al.* 2001; Carter 2003).

In the following development, the problem of assessing the net benefit due to a MPA is not considered in a fully general way. Only costs and benefits related to fishing and ecotourism, i.e. use values, are considered. The objective of ecosystem protection is treated as a constraint of sustainability in the use of natural resources by fishing and ecotourism. This implies that the non-use value (existence value, option or quasi-option value) of the ecosystem is not taken into account explicitly (however, in the case of an optimal management program, this value may be revealed by the level of dual variables associated with environmental constraints). This approach is certainly too limiting, and results in under-recording of the net surplus generated by an MPA (Emerton 1999). Yet measuring the non-use value of biodiversity is still confined to theoretical grounds, and, in practice, this type of value is not taken into account when attempting to assess the net economic surplus generated by an MPA (Hoagland *et al.* 1995).

Furthermore, the analysis is limited to the direct consequences of the MPA on fishing and ecotourism, relying on the assumption that a set of economically significant prices may be used to evaluate these activities.

As regards fishing, a problem may arise due to the fact that, in some cases, a significant part of catches is not marketed. In the case of subsistence fishing, landings should be valued by using ex-vessel market prices for similar products landed by commercial fishing boats -which, in practice, may raise some problems. In the case of recreational fishing, this solution does not apply, because recreational fishers do not value their activity on the basis of the fish consumption it provides, but merely for the leisure it represents. When recreational fishing takes the form of charter fishing, its economic value is normally represented in the price paid by customers to chartering companies. In the frequent case where recreational fishing is a non-market activity, it is necessary to value the willingness to pay of fishers by appropriate methods, such as the contingent valuation method, the travel cost method, or a combination of both methods (Layman *et al.* 1996).

For tourism, valuing costs and benefits generated by the MPA raises problems which are often more complex than in the case of fishing, because tourism may cover a wide range of activities. Due to the nature of the problem under survey, it is possible to restrain the investigation to the case of "ecotourism", i.e. a form of tourism that is generated by the quality of the protected ecosystem of the MPA. Relevant valuation of the benefit generated by each visit to the MPA is available (net income resulting from services to ecotourists, and, in where there are access fees, net income of the management body of the MPA).

Assessing costs and benefits of the MPA for fishers mainly relies on the following considerations:

\( \) The prohibition of fishing in the no-take part of the MPA reduces catch, ceteris paribus, in the short term. This is the negative effect of the MPA for fishers. The economic importance of this drawback varies according to the degree of dependency of fishers on the zone affected by the prohibition.

On the other hand, by protecting a part of fish stocks against fishing mortality, the fishing ban favours an increase in biomass in the notake part of the MPA, which is likely to induce a net transfer from the no-take zone to the fishing zone (spillover effect), thereby increasing the catch per unit of effort (CPUE) in this zone. This favourable effect of the MPA depends on two types of factors: biological parameters of the targeted stocks (recruitment, natural mortality, space mobility), and the level of fishing mortality (hence of fishing effort) in the zone left open to fishing. This factor is critical when assessing the economic performance of the MPA: if the fishing zone is under open access, the increase in CPUE will be followed by an increase in effort, and this process will normally go on until the rent resulting from the spillover effect is totally dissipated (Hannesson 1998). If the increase in fishing effort can be prevented (e.g. by a system of limited entry licenses in the fishing zone), the rent dissipation will not happen, and the MPA may improve the situation of the fishery, both in economic and in biological terms, even though this fishery suffers from some overcapacity (Holland and Brazee 1996; Guénette and Pitcher 1999; Boncoeur et al. 2002).

⟨ The existence of a zone where fish resources are protected from fishing mortality may also be considered as an application of the precautionary principle to fisheries management (Lauck *et al.* 1998), limiting the risk of accidental collapse of the fishery by the constitution of a "buffer stock", or safe minimum biomass level (Anderson 2002).

⟨ Benefits of the MPA for fishers will be maximized if the location of the no-take zone is such that it protects a critical zone for the stock renewal. On the other hand, these benefits may be jeopardized by the opportunistic development of predators (Boncoeur *et al.* 2002).

As for ecotourism, it is generally expected that protecting marine ecosystems inside an MPA will attract visitors. In order to measure the benefit of the MPA for the tourism sector, it is necessary to determine a quantitative relationship between some attributes of the ecosystem and the number of visitors to the MPA (Dixon et al. 1993). A reasonable assumption is that such a relationship is an increasing, but non-linear, function due to congestion phenomena that appear once a certain level of ecotourism activity or visits is reached. Moreover, it is necessary to take account of the negative consequences increasing tourism may have on the ecosystem, specially when the increase is left uncontrolled.

In summary, bearing in mind the simplifying assumptions presented above, the net social surplus generated by a MPA may be expressed as:

- The fishery rent generated by the transfer of increased fish biomass from the no-take zone to the fishing zone
- ( Minus the negative impact on catch due to the decrease in the zone open to fishing
- ⟨ Plus the tourist rent generated by the improvement in the quality of the ecosystem of the reserve

All these benefits and costs should be estimated under the constraint of sustainable use of the ecosystem resources. This implies bioeconomic equilibrium conditions, but reaching equilibrium usually involves a transitional period, which raises concerns with respect to the time-discount rate.

#### 2.2. Valuation techniques for non-market values

Several techniques may be used to assess non-market values. For MPAs, the two most relevant ones are the travel cost method and the contingent valuation method. After presenting each one of these two techniques, we will present some attempts to combine them.

#### 2.2.1. The Travel Cost Method (TCM)

This method is based on the observation of actual behaviours of individuals frequenting a given site, i.e. revealed preferences (Clawson 1959; Clawson and Knetsch 1966). It is increasingly used to assess the benefit associated with sites that provide recreational uses (fishing, diving, etc.). TCM relies on the assumption that time and costs associated with travel form the shadow, or implicit price for visiting the site. The relationship between this shadow price and the quantity, i.e. the frequency of visits to the site, expresses the shadow demand function for the site. This function may be estimated on the basis of data gathered by concentric zones around the studied site (zone travel cost approach) or of individual data (individual travel cost approach). The traditional application of TCM consists of measuring the consumers' surplus associated with the visits to the site. This can be done by defining the consumers' surplus as the surface included between the demand function and the shadow price line (Freeman 1993).

In connection with public policy concerns, TCM is often used to assess the effects of a variation in the quality of a site. Improving the quality of a site, for instance, results in shifting the demand curve towards the right. As a consequence, if the unit travel cost is left unchanged, the number of visits increases. The value of this improvement is then measured by the economic surplus variation.

However, it may be difficult to identify precisely the changes in the demand function associated with an improvement of quality. The solution is to use a model with variable parameters integrating quality in the demand function (Vaughan and Russel 1982; Smith and Desvougues 1985). This procedure includes two stages: i) sites with different qualities are taken into account, and, for each site with a given quality, a demand function is estimated; ii) these demands are compared, in order to estimate the shift in the demand curve following a quality variation.

In spite of continual improvements, the applicability of TCM still raises some problems. One of them is related to the definition of the quality variable. Quality measurements usually rely on objective data (e.g. levels of chemical or organic pollution). This procedure assumes that individuals determine their recreational choices according to known objective data. However, this assumption is highly questionable, in particular concerning medical or sanitary quality: there may be an important difference between the objective quality of a site and its perception by its users. This phenomenon was clearly highlighted, for example, by a survey aiming at determining the perception of the health risks connected with consumption of shellfish picked on the strand by recreational fishers (Appéré and Bonnieux 2003). Other problems are related, *inter alia*, to the valuation of travel time (Cesario 1976), the taking into account of people staying several days to attend the site (Cameron 1992), or of the purchase of durable recreational equipment.

Relying on actually observed behaviours, TCM suffers from a lack of flexibility, in particular in the case of prospective valuation of potential situations which will occur only in the future. As it depends on the levels of quality actually observed at the sites, the range of possible quality variations is constrained by observations, which may not correspond to the ones that are expected from an improvement project.

Some alternatives to the classical travel cost method were recently proposed to overcome some of these problems. The methods of discrete choices associated with travel costs are increasingly used, due to their flexibility and to their ability to estimate the benefit related to a change in recreational sites quality. Based on the Random Utility Model, these approaches assume that users choose the site they consider the best; this choice reveals their relative preferences between the characteristics of a site and the cost to reach it. By combining the data relating to the choices of site with the costs and the characteristics of all alternative sites, it is then possible, generally with the help of Logit or Probit models, to estimate the relation between the choice of a site and costs and characteristics of all alternative sites. However, this alternative method requires information on all the possible sites that the visitor could select, in particular on their characteristics in terms of quality, and on travel cost for each site. For some recreational activities, this condition can be rather difficult to satisfy, especially when many sites may be used as substitutes. Another alternative is to combine TCM with contingent valuation (see 2.2.2 and 2.2.3 below).

#### 2.2.2. The Contingent Valuation Method (CVM)

This method appeared approximately at the same time as the travel cost method: the first known survey goes back to 1961 and was undertaken by Davis (1963). The essence of CVM is to collect stated preferences, i.e. to value directly the variations of the quality of a good by asking individuals their willingness to pay (WTP) for an improvement concerning this good, or their willingness to receive (WTR) in compensation for a degradation of this good. These values are obtained by interviewing users, to whom a hypothetical scenario specifying the object to be valued is presented.

The major advantage of CVM lies in its great flexibility, making it possible to apply it a large range of situations. Its success may also be explained by the fact that it meets an increasing need for expertise concerning environmental valuation, following the evolution of legislation in Western countries.

However, CVM was originally criticized due to the possible existence of biases in the method. If some of these biases (e.g. the strategic bias) are regarded nowadays as less serious than originally supposed, others continue to raise problems. To this category belong the hypothetical and instrumental biases.

Particularly in the field of environmental assets, there may be a problem with the means of payment used by the CV scenario: simple means such as a tax increase, an increase in the water invoice, or a voluntary contribution, are sometimes badly felt by interviewed people. Not only does the scenario make them imagine a situation where they would have to pay for the use of a good that, in many circumstances, was formerly regarded as free, but the means of payment used in the scenario gives them the unpleasant feeling that they are submitted to a sort of "polluter pays" principle. It often results in a high rate of "false-zero" answers (zero-WTP), which means that some respondents provide a willingness to pay equal to zero because they refuse the scenario suggested ("protest response"), not because they regard the proposed improvement as valueless.

Moreover, requesting users to provide a monetary value for the improvement of an environmental good, which generally is perceived as

free, requires very developed cognitive capacities from the users. There is a risk of obtaining aberrant and/or non-consistent values (e.g. characterised by the bias of inclusion). Statistical procedures are designed to "eliminate" these values, but they often appear to be artificial and lacking theoretical bases.

More generally, CVM has always raised a strong scepticism among some economists, decision makers or experts, because it is based on stated preferences: "it would produce hypothetical answers to hypothetical questions" (Cameron 1992).

This mistrust, as well as the possible existence of biases, has generated a long series of studies. Attempts have been made to compare the values obtained by CVM with those obtained by other valuation methods. For instance, Bishop and Heberlein (1979), Heberlein and Kealy (1983) compared the estimates based on CVM and by TCM. According to these studies, data obtained by CVM seem valid and credible (Whitehead *et al.* 1999). Loomis (1993) showed that both methods do not give statistically different results when the quality of a site is changed. However, the results obtained by the CVM can sometimes be prone to certain biases such as the hypothetical bias (Cumming *et al.* 1997; Diamond and Hausman 1994).

#### 2.2.3. Combining TCM and CVM

Considering TCM and CVM, it appears that each of these two methods suffers from drawbacks that limit their scope and credibility. This has led to suggestions that aim at combining both methods (Cameron 1992). According to this new approach, TCM provides data on actually observed behaviours, while CVM provides insights on their probable behaviour in hypothetical situations that are defined by the contingent scenario —which may substantially differ from those that are usually observed.

This procedure was later improved, and lead to what is known as the hypothetical travel cost method (Layman *et al.* 1996). The first step is to estimate the aggregated demand curve for a site using the TCM. The next step is to submit a hypothetical scenario considering different conditions (e.g. quality levels of the site) to a sample of users asking them to indicate what would be their behaviour (frequency of visits to a site) according to those hypothetical conditions. The frequency of visits to a site according to various levels of environmental quality becomes the contingent variable, instead of the traditional willingness-to-pay sum. These contingent data are then combined with the information previously obtained by TCM (in particular the distance covered), to calculate indirectly the average willingness-to-pay for the considered variation of quality.

Contrasting with traditional CVM, in the hypothetical TCM no question involving price and means of payment is explicitly asked. The respondents are questioned on variables that are familiar to them, namely the variations in their frequency of visiting a site. As a result, this procedure is more realistic and accessible than traditional CVM, and avoids some of the problems that this method usually raises: strategic behaviour, refusal to pay, and, probably, hypothetical bias. Symmetrically, the hypothetical TCM, which applies to a class of problems traditionally analyzed by TCM (restoration or degradation of environmental assets for which are already visited and requiring travel), widens the scope of this method by including potential effects of events affecting the attributes of the studied site (Appéré 2002).

#### References

A.A.A.S. (2001). AAAS 2001 Annual Meeting and Science Innovation Exposition: Scientific consensus statement on marine reserves and marine protected areas. San Francisco, American Association for the Advancement of Science (AAAS).

A.B.A.R.E. (1993). Use of economic instruments in integrated zone coastal management. Canberra, Australia, Consultancy Report, Resource Assessment Commission.

Agardy, M.T. (1993). Accommodating Ecotourism in Multiple Use Planning of Coastal and Marine Protected Areas. *Ocean and Coastal Management* 20: 219-239.

Agardy, M.T. (1994a). Advances in marine conservation: the role of marine protected areas. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 9 (7): 267-270.

Agardy, M.T. (1994b). Closed Areas: a tool to complement other forms of fisheries management. In: K.L. Gimbel (ed), *Limiting Access to Marine Fisheries: Keeping the Focus on Conservation*. Center for Marine Conservation and World Wildlife Fund, Washington, D.C.: 197-204.

Agardy, M.T. (2000). Information needs for marine protected areas: scientific and societal. Bulletin of Marine Science 66 (3): 875-888.

Alban, F. (1998). Pêche professionnelle et activités récréatives. Examen de potentialités de développement d'une pluri-activité: le cas de la mer d'Iroise. Mémoire de DEA "Economie et Politique Maritime", UBO/ENSAR, Brest.

Alban, F. (2003). Contribution à l'analyse économique des aires marines protégées. Application à la rade de Brest et à la mer d'Iroise. Thèse de Doctorat en Sciences Economiques, Université de Bretagne Occidentale, Brest: 291 pp.

Alban, F. and J. Boncoeur (2004). An assessment of the potential interest of fishermen to engage in boat-chartering in the context of a marine park. The case of the Iroise Sea, Western Brittany, France. In: J. Boissevain and T. Selwyn (eds), *Contesting the foreshore: tourism, society, economics and politics of the coast.* Amsterdam, MARE Publication Series, Centre for Maritime Research, Amsterdam University Press: 185-203.

Alban, F., S. Pennanguer and A. Sabourin (2004). Marine protected areas and fishers involvement. The case of the Iroise Sea, Western Brittany, France. *Proceedings of the XIIth Biennal Conference of the International Institute of Fisheries Economics and Trade (IIFET)*. Tokyo, Japan: 11.

Alcala, A.C. (1988). Effects of marine reserves on coral fish abundances and yields of Philippine coral reefs. Ambio 17 (3): 194-199.

Alder, J. and U.R. Sumaila (2002). Economics of marine protected areas. Coastal Management 30 (3): 279-280.

Alexander, R.R. (2000). Modelling species extinction: the case for non consumptive values. *Ecological Economics* 35: 259-269.

Alpizar, F. (2006). The pricing of protected areas in nature-based tourism: a local perspective. Ecological Economics 56 (2): 294-307.

Anaya, G. (1998). The use of ecotourism as a tool for the development and management of marine protected areas (MPAs) in Mexico. Coastal Management 1: 335-365.

Andaloro, F. and L. Tunesi (2000). The implementation of Italian network of marine protected areas: right-based strategies to meet the coastal fisheries management. Use of property rights in fisheries management. In: R. Shotton (ed), *Proceedings of the FishRights99 Conference*, Fremantle, Western Australia, 1999. Rome, FAO, Fisheries Technical Paper 404. Fisheries Western Australia 2: 206-208.

Anderson, L.G. (2002a). A bioeconomic analysis of marine reserves. Natural Resource Modeling 15 (3): 311-334.

Anderson, L.G. (2002b). A comparison of the utilization of stocks with patchy distribution and migration under open access and marine reserves: an extended analysis. *Marine Resource Economics* 17: 269-289

Anon. (1997). Activités d'observation en mer des mammifères marins. Documents de réflexion. Parc Marin du Saguenay-Saint-Laurent, Ministère du Patrimoine Canadien, Parcs Canada, Ministère de l'Environnement et de la Faune du Québec, Québec: 16 pp.

Anon. (1999a). Special issues: recreation fees and pricing issues in the public sector. Journal of Park and Recreation Administration 17 (3).

Anon. (1999b). Special issues: recreation fees and pricing issues in the public sector. Journal of Leisure Research 31 (3).

Appéré, G. (2002). Analyse économique des comportements face à un risque sanitaire. Le cas de la pêche récréative de coquillages. Thèse de doctorat, Université de Bretagne Occidentale, Brest: 262 pp.

Appéré, G. and F. Bonnieux (2003). Analyse du comportement face à un risque sanitaire: la consommation non-marchande de coquillages. Revue d'Economie Politique 113 (3): 373-401.

Arin, T. and R.A. Kramer (2002). Divers' willingness to pay to visit marine sanctuaries: an exploratory study. *Ocean & Coastal Management* 45 (2-3): 171-183.

Armstrong, C.W. and S. Reithe (2001). Comment: Marine reserves, will they accomplish more with management costs? *Marine Resource Economics* 16: 165-175.

Armstrong, D.A., T.C. Wainwright, G.C. Jensen, P.A. Dinnel and H.B. Anderson (1993). Taking refuge from bycatch issues: Red King Crab and trawl fisheries in the Eastern Bering Sea. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 50: 1993-2000.

Arrow, K.J., B. Bolin, R. Costanza, P. Dasgupta, C. Folke, C.S. Holling, B.-O. Jansson, S. Levin, K.-G. Mäler, C.A. Perrings and D. Pimentel (1995). Economic growth, carrying capacity, and the environment. *Science* 268: 520-521.

Attwood, C.G., J.M. Harris and A.J. Williams (1997). International experience of marine protected areas and their relevance to South Africa. *South African Journal of Marine Sciences* 18: 311-332.

Aussedat, N. (1995). User group attitudes toward the establishment of marine reserve in Saint Barthelemy. *Caribbean Park and Protected Area Bulletin* 5 (2): 11.

Badalamenti, F., A.A. Ramos, E. Voultsiadou, J.L. Sanchez Lizaso, G. D'anna, C. Pipitone, J. Mas, J.M. Ruiz Fernandez, D. Whitmarsh and S. Riggio (2000). Cultural and socio-economic impacts of Mediterranean marine protected areas. *Environmental Conservation* 27 (2): 110-125.

Balmford, A., P. Gravestock, N. Hockley, C.J. Mcclean and C.M. Roberts (2004). The worldwide costs of marine protected areas. *PNAS* 101 (26): 9694-9697.

Barley, G. (1993). Integrated coastal management: the Florida Keys example. Oceanus 36 (3): 15-18.

Bateman, I.J. and I.H. Langford (1997). Non-users' willingness to pay for a National Park: an application and critique of a contingent valuation method. *Regional Studies* 31 (6): 571-582.

Beattie, A., U.R. Sumaila, N.L. Christensen and D. Pauly (2002). A model for the bioeconomic evaluation of marine protected area size and placement in the North Sea. *Natural Resource Modeling* 15 (4): 413-437.

Beaumont, J. (1997). Community participation in the establishment and management of marine protected areas: a review of selected international experience. South African Journal of Marine Sciences 18: 333-340.

Bell, J.D. (1992). Tourism and scuba diving in some of Australia's marine protected areas. MEDPAN News 3 (Ajaccio Special Issue): 47-50.

Bénard, J. (1985). Economie publique. Economica, Paris.

Bennett, E.L. and C.J. Reynolds (1993). The value of a mangrove area in Sarawk. Biodiversity and Conservation 2: 359-375.

Berkes, F., R. Mahon, P. Mcconney, R.B. Pollnac and R. Pomerey (2001). *Managing small-scale fisheries: Alternative directions and methods*. IDRC, Ottawa, Canada: 320 pp.

Bhat, M.G. (2003). Application of non-market valuation to the Florida Keys marine reserve management. *Journal of Environmental Management* 67: 315-325.

Binche, J.L. (1992). L'effet réserve dans la réserve naturelle de Cerbère-Banyuls (France). MEDPAN News 3 (Ajaccio Special Issue): 27-32.

Bishop R.C. and T.A. Heberlein (1979). Measuring Values of Extramarket Goods: Are Indirect Measure Biased? *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* 61: 926-930.

Blume, L. and D.L. Rubinfeld (1984). Compensation for takings: an economic analysis. California Law Review 72: 569-628.

Bockstael, N.E. and J.J. Opaluch (1983). Discrete Modeling of supply response under uncertainty: the case of the fishery. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 10: 125-137.

Bockstael N.E., I.E. Strand, K.E. McConnell and F. Arsanjani (1990). Sample Selection Bias in the Estimation of Recreation Demand Functions: An Application to Sportfishing. *Land Economics* 6 (1): 40-49.

Bohnsack, J.A. (1993). Marine reserves: They enhance fisheries, reduce conflicts and protect resources. Oceanus 36 (3): 63-71.

Bohnsack, J.A. (1996a). Marine reserves, zoning, and the future of fishery management. Fisheries 21 (9): 14-16.

Bohnsack, J.A. (1996b). Maintenance and recovery of reef fishery productivity. In: N.V.C. Polunin and C.M. Roberts (eds), *Reef Fisheries*. Chapman and Hall, London: 283-313.

Bohnsack, J.A. (1998). Application of marine reserves to reef fisheries management. Australian Journal of Ecology 23: 298-304.

Bohnsack, J.A. (1999). *Incorporating no-take marine reserves into precautionary management and stock assessment*. NOAA Technical Memorandum, NMFS – SEFC, Washington, D.C.: 8 pp.

Boncoeur, J., Ed. (2004). Activités halieutiques et activités récréatives dans le cadre d'un espace à protéger: le cas du Parc National de la Mer d'Iroise. Rapport Final. Projet de recherche cofinancé par le Programme National d'Environnement Côtier, le programme "Espaces Protégés" du Ministère de l'Ecologie et du Développement Durable et la Région Bretagne. CEDEM- IUEM/UBO, IFREMER, C3ED-UVSQ, Brest: 516 pp.

Boncoeur, J., F. Alban, O. Guyader and O. Thébaud (2002). Fish, fishers, seals and tourists: economic consequences of creating a marine reserve in a multi-species, multi-activity context. *Natural Resource Modeling* 15 (4): 387-411.

Boncoeur, J., S. Fifas and B. Le Gallic (2000). Un modèle bioéconomique d'évaluation du coût social des rejets au sein d'une pêcherie complexe. *Economie et Prévision* 143-144: 185-199.

Bonnieux, F. (1997). Evaluation contingente et décision publique. Discussion Paper, INRA-ESR, Rennes (France).

Bonnieux, F. and B. Desaigues (1998). Economie et politiques de l'environnement. Dalloz, Paris.

Bonnieux, F. and P. Rainelli (2002). Evaluation des dommages des marées noires: une illustration à partir du cas de l'Erika et des pertes d'agrément des résidents. *Economie et Statistique* 357-358: 173-187

Botsford, L.W., J.C. Castilla and C.H. Peterson (1997). The management of fisheries and marine ecosystems. Science 277: 509-515.

Boudouresque, C.F. (1990). Réserves et parcs marins: des outils pour la valorisation économiques des espaces littoraux. In: A. Cossu, V. Gazale and I. Milella (eds), *Parchi Marini del Mediterraneo. Aspetti naturalistici e gestionali.* San Theodoro, Instituto delle Civilta del Mare: 21-37.

Boyle, K.J. and R.C. Bishop (1987). Valuing wildlife in benefit-cost analyses: a case study involving endangered species. *Water Resources Research* 23 (5): 943-950.

Breen, C. and W. Forsythe (2001). Management and protection of the maritime cultural resource in Ireland. *Coastal Management* 29 (1): 41-51.

Brock, R.E. (1994). Beyond fisheries enhancement: artificial reefs and ecotourism. Bulletin of Marine Science 55 (2-3): 1181-1188.

Bromley, D.W. (1991). Environment and economy: property rights and public policy. Blackwell, Cambridge.

Brown, G. and J.H. Goldstein (1984). A model for valuing endangered species. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 11: 303-309.

Brown, K., W.N. Adger, E. Tompkins, P. Bacon, D. Shim and K. Young (2001). Trade-off analysis for marine protected area management. *Ecological Economics* 37 (3): 417-434.

Brunckhorst, D.J. (1994). Marine protected areas and biosphere reserves: Towards a new paradigm. *Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Marine and Coastal Protected Areas*, Australian Nature Conservation Agency, Canberra, Australia.

Buerger, R., J. Hill, J. Herstine and J. Taggart (2000). The impact of recreation on Barrier Island: a case study on Masonboro Island. *Coastal Management* 28 (3): 249-259.

Burtraw, D. (1991). Compensating losers when cost-effective environmental policies are adopted. Resources 104: 1-5.

Butler, R.W. (1980). The concept of a tourist area cycle of evolution: implications for management of resources. *Canadian Geographer* 24 (1): 5-12.

Caddy, J.F. (1975). Spatial model for an exploited shellfish population, and its application to the Georges Bank scallop fishery. *Journal of Fish Resource Board, Canada* 32: 1305-1328.

Caddy, J.F. and R. Mahon (1995). Reference points for fisheries management. Rome, FAO, Fisheries Technical Paper n°347.

Cameron, T.A. (1992). Combining Contingent Valuation and Travel Cost Data for the Valuation of Nonmarket Goods. *Land Economics* 68: 302-317.

Carew-Reid, J. (1990). Conservation and protected areas on South-Pacific Islands: the importance of tradition. *Environmental Conservation* 17 (1): 29-38.

Carr, M.H. and D.C. Reed (1993). Conceptual issues relevant to marine harvest refuges: examples from temperate reef fishes. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 50: 2019-2028.

Carson, R.T., N.E. Flores and N.F. Meade (1996). *Contingent Valuation: contreversies and Evidence*. Discussion Paper, University of California, San Diego.

Carter, D.W. (2003). Protected areas in marine resource management: another look at the economics and research issues. *Ocean & Coastal Management* 46 (5): 439-456.

Causey, B. (1995). Enforcement in marine protected areas. In: S. Gubbay (ed), *Marine protected areas - Principles and techniques for management*. Chapman and Hall, London: 119-147.

Cesar, H. (1996). Economic Analysis of Indonesian Coral Reefs. Washington, Environment Department, World Bank.

Cesario, F.J. (1976). Value of Time in Recreation Benefit Studies. Land Economics 52: 32-41.

Chakravorty, U. and K. Nemoto (2001). Modeling the effects of area closure and tax policies: a spatial-temporal model of Hawaii longline Fishery. *Marine Resource Economics* 15: 179-204.

Charles, A.T. (2001). Sustainable fishery systems. Madden, MA, Blackwell Science.

Chase, L.C., D.R. Lee, W.D. Schulze and D.J. Anderson (1998). Ecotourism demand and differential pricing of national park access in Costa Rica. *Land Economics* 74 (4): 466-482.

Cheng, H.-T. and R.E. Townsend (1993). Potential impact of seasonal closures in the U.S. lobster fishery. *Marine Resource Economics* 8: 101-117.

Chervel, M. and Le Gall M. (1981). *Manuel d'évaluation économique des projets: la méthode des effets.* SEDES / Ministère de la Coopération, Paris

Christie, P., A. White and E. Deguit (2002). Starting point or solution? Community-based marine protected areas in the Philippines. *Journal of Environmental Management* 66 (4): 441-454.

Chuenpagdee, R., J. Fraga and J.I. Euan-Avila (2002). Community perspectives toward a marine reserve: a case study of San Felipe, Yucatan, Mexico. *Coastal Management* 30 (2): 183-191.

Claeys-Mekdade, C., G. Geniaux and S. Luchini (1999). Quelles valeur attribuer à la Camargue? Une perspective interdisciplinaire économie et sociologie. In: P. Point (ed), *La valeur économique des hydrosystèmes. Méthodes et modèles d'évaluation des services délivrés.* Economica, Paris: 138-169.

Clark, C.W. (1996). Marine reserves and the precautionary management of fisheries. Ecological Applications 6 (2): 369-370.

Clawson, M. (1959). *Methods of Measuring the Demand for and Value of Outdoor Recreation*. Reprint N°10, Resources for the Future Inc., Washington D.C.

Clawson, M. and J.L. Knetsch (1966). Economics of Outdoor Recreation. Resources for the Future, Washington D.C.

Cognetti, G. (1986). Perspectives for protected marine areas in the Mediterranean. Marine Pollution Bulletin 17 (5): 185-186.

Conover, D.O., J. Travis and F.C. Coleman (2000). Essential fish habitat and marine reserves: An introduction to the Second Mote Symposium in Fisheries Ecology. *Bulletin of Marine Science* 66 (3): 527-534.

Conrad, J.M. (1999). The bioeconomics of marine sanctuaries. Journal of Bioeconomics 1: 205-217.

Costanza, R. (2000). Social goals and the valuation of ecosystem services. Ecosystems 3 (1): 4-10.

Costanza, R. and S. Farber (2002). Introduction to the special issue on the dynamics and value of ecosystem services: integrating economic and ecological perspectives. *Ecological Economics* 41 (3): 367-373.

Costanza, R., F. Andrade, P. Antunes, M. Van Den Belt, P.D. Boersma, D.F. Boesch, F. Catarino, S. Hanna, K. Limburg, B. Low, M. Molitor, J.G. Pereira, S. Rayner, R. Santos, J. Wilson and M.D. Young (1998). Principles for sustainable governance of the oceans. *Science* 281: 198-199.

Costanza, R., R. d'Arge, R.S. De Groot, S. Farber, M. Grasso, B. Hannon, K. Limburg, S. Naeem, R.V. O'neill, J. Paruelo, R.G. Raskin, P. Sutton and M. Van Den Belt (1997). The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. *Nature* 387: 253-260.

Craik, W. (1994). The economics of managing fisheries and tourism in the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park. In: M. Munasinghe and J.A. McNeely. (eds), *Protected area economics and policy. Linking conservation and sustainable development.* World Bank & World Conservation Union (IUCN), Washington D.C.: 339-348.

Crosby, M.P. (1994). A proposed approach for studying ecological and socio-economic impacts of alternative access management strategies in marine protected areas. In: D.J. Brunkhorst (ed), *Marine protected areas and biosphere reserves: 'Towards a new paradigm'*. Australian Nature Conservation Agency, Canberra: 45-65.

Crowder, L.B., S.J. Lyman, W.F. Figueira and J. Priddy (2000). Source-sink population dynamics and the problem of sitting marine reserves. *Bulletin of Marine Science* 66 (3): 799-820.

Cummings, R.G., S. Elliot, G.W. Harrison and J. Murphy (1997). Are Hypothetical Referenda Incentive Compatible? *Journal of Political Economy* 105: 609-621.

Curtis, R.E. and K.E. McConnell (2004). Incorporating information and expectations in fishermen's spatial decisions. *Marine Resource Economics* 19 (1): 131-143.

Cuthill, M. (1998). Managing the Yongola historic shipwreck. Coastal Management 26: 33-46.

Dabat, M.-H. and M.A. Rudloff (1999). La valeur de préservation d'une lagune méditerranéenne menacée de comblement. In: P. Point (ed), *La valeur économique des hydrosystèmes. Méthodes et modèles d'évaluation des services délivrés.* Economica, Paris: 107-135.

Dalton, M.G. and S. Ralston (2004). The California rockfish conservation area and groundfish trawlers at moss landing harbor. *Marine Resource Economics* 19 (1): 67-83.

Davis, D. (1998). Whale shark tourism in Ningaloo Marine Park, Australia. Anthrozoös 11 (1): 5-11.

Davis, D. and C. Tisdell (1995). Recreational scuba-diving and carrying capacity in marine protected areas. *Ocean and Coastal Management* 26: 19-40.

Davis, D. and C. Tisdell (1996). Economic management of recreational scuba diving and the environment. *Journal of Environmental Management* 48: 229-248.

Davis, D., S. Banks, A. Birtles, P. Valentine and M. Cuthill (1997). Whale sharks in Ningaloo Marine Park: managing tourism in an Australian marine protected area. *Tourism Management* 18 (5): 259-271.

Davis, D., V. Harriott, C. MacNamara, L. Roberts and S. Austin (1995). Conflicts in a marine protected area: Scuba divers, economics, ecology and management in Julian Rocks Aquatic Reserve. *Australian Parks and Recreation* 31 (1): 29-35.

Davis, G.E. (1981). On the role of underwater parks and sanctuaries in the management of coastal resources in the Southeastern United States. *Environmental Conservation* 8 (1): 67-70.

Davis, G.E. and J.E. Dugan (1994). Applications of marine refugia or replenishment zones to fisheries management. In: K.L. Gimbel. (ed), *Limiting Access to Marine Fisheries: Keeping the Focus on Conservation*. Washington D.C., Center for Marine Conservation and World Wildlife Fund US: 224-232.

Davis, R.K. (1963). Recreation Planning as an Economic Problem. Natural Resources Journal, 3 (2): 239-243

Day, J.C. (2002). Zoning-lessons from the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park. Ocean and Coastal Management 45: 139-156.

De Groot, R.S. (1992). Functions and values of the Galápagos National Park. In *Functions of Nature: Evaluation of nature in environmental planning management and decision making*. R. S. de Groot, Wolters-Noordhoff: 219-240.

De Groot, R.S., M.A. Wilson and R.M.J. Boumans (2002). A typology for the classification, description and valuation of ecosystem functions, goods and services. *Ecological Economics* 41 (3): 393-408.

Demartini, E.E. (1993). Modeling the potential of fishery reserves for managing Pacific coral reef fishes. Fishery Bulletin 91: 414-427.

Desaigues, B. and D. Ami (2001). An estimation of the social benefits of preserving biodiversity. *International Journal of Global Environmental Issues* 1 (1): 73-86.

Desaigues, B. and P. Point (1990a). L'Economie du patrimoine naturel: quelques développements récents. *Revue d'Economie Politique* 100 (6): 707-785.

Desaigues, B. and Point P. (1990b). Les méthodes de détermination d'indicateur de valeur ayant la dimension de prix pour les composantes du patrimoine naturel. *Revue Economique* 2: 269-319.

Dharmaratne, G.S., F.Y. Sang and L.J. Walling (2000). Tourism potentials for financing protected areas. *Annals of Tourism Research* 27 (3): 590-610.

Diamond, P.A. and J.A. Hausman (1994). Contingent Valuation: Is Some Number Better Than No Number? *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 8: 45-64.

Dixon, J.A. (1993). Economic benefits of marine protected areas. Oceanus 36 (3): 35-40.

Dixon, J.A. and P.B. Sherman (1990). Economics of protected areas: a new look at benefits and costs. Island Press, Washington D.C., USA.

Dixon, J.A., K. Hamilton, S. Pagiola and L. Segnestam (2001). *Tourism and the environment in the Caribbean: an economic framework*. Environment Department Papers n°80, The World Bank: 48 pp.

Dixon, J.A., L.F. Scura and T. Van't Hof (1993). Meeting ecological and economic goals: marine park in the Caribbean. *Ambio* 22 (2-3): 117-125.

Dixon, J.A., L.F. Scura and T. Van't Hof (1995). Ecology and microeconomics as 'joint products': The Bonaire Marine Park in the Caribbean. In: C.A. Perrings, K.-G. Mäler, C. Folke, C.S. Holling and B.-O. Jansson (eds), *Biodiversity Conservation*. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht: 127-145.

Dobrzynski, T. and E. Nicholson (2000). *An evaluation of the short-term social and economic impacts of marine reserves on user groups in Key West.* New York, Environmental Defense: 162 pp.

Done, T.J. and R.E. Reichelt (1998). Integrated coastal zone and fisheries ecosystem management: generic goals and performance indices. *Ecological Applications* 8 (1): S110-S118.

Duffus, D.A. and P. Dearden (1993). Recreational use, valuation, and management of Killer Whales (*Orcinus orca*) on Canada's Pacific Coast. *Environmental Conservation* 20 (2): 149-156.

Eagles, P.F., S.F. McCool and C.D. Haynes (2002). Sustainable tourism in protected areas. Guidelines for planning and management. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK: 183pp.

Eales, J. and J.E. Wilen (1986). An examination of fishing location choice in the pink shrimp fishery. Marine Resource Economics 2: 331-351.

Ehler, C.N. and D.J. Basta (1993). Integrated management of coastal areas and marine sanctuaries - A new paradigm. Oceanus 36: 6-13.

Eichbaum, W.M., M.P. Crosby, M.T. Agardy and S.A. Laskin (1996). The role of marine and coastal protected areas in the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity. *Oceanography* 9 (1): 60-70.

Emerton, L. (1999). *Economic tools for the management of marine protected areas*. IUCN – The World Conservation Union, Eastern Africa Regional Office, Nairobi (Kenya): 31 pp.

Farber, S.C., R. Costanza and M.A. Wilson (2002). Economic and ecological concepts for valuing ecosystem services. *Ecological Economics* 41 (3): 375-392.

Farrow, S. (1996). Marine protected areas: emerging economics. Marine Policy 20 (6): 439-446.

Faucheux, S. and J.F. Noel (1995). Economie des ressources naturelles et de l'environnement. Paris, Colin.

Fauzi, A. and E. Anggraini Buchary (2002). A socio-economic perspective of environmental degradation at Kepulauan Seribu Marine National Park, Indonesia. *Coastal Management* 30 (2): 167-181.

Ferraro, P.J. (2002). The local costs of establishing protected area in low-income nations: Ranomafana National Park, Madagascar. *Ecological Economics* 43 (2/3): 261-275.

Fisheries Society of the British Isles (2001). Marine protected areas in the North Sea. FSBI Briefing Paper 1: 12 pp.

Fogarty, M.J., J.A. Bohnsack and P.K. Dayton (2000). Marine reserves and resource management. In: C. Sheppard (ed), Seas at the Millenium: an environmental evaluation. Elsevier, tome 3: 375-392.

Forestell, P.H. (1993). If Leviathan has a face, does Gaia have a soul? Incorporating environmental education in marine eco-tourism programs. *Ocean and Coastal Management* 20(3): 267-282.

Francour P., A. Ganteaume and M. Poulain (1999). Effects of boat anchoring in *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass beds in the Port-Cros national park (north-western Mediterranean Sea). *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 9: 341-400.

Francour P., J.G. Harmelin, D.A. Pollard and S. Sartoretto (2001). A review of marine protected areas in the northwestern Mediterranean region: sitting, usage, zonation and management. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 11 (3): 155-188.

Fraschetti S., A. Terlizzi, F. Micheli, L. Benedetti-Cecchi and F. Boero (2002). Marine protected areas in the Mediterranean sea: objectives, effectiveness and monitoring. *Marine Ecology* 23 (1): 190-200.

Freeman, A.M. (1993). The Measurement of Environmental and Ressources Value. Ressources for the Future Inc., Washington D.C.

García-Charton, J.A. and A. Pérez-Ruzafa (1999). Ecological heterogeneity and the evaluation of the effects of marine reserves. *Fisheries Research* 42: 1-20.

Gates, J.M. (1984). Principal types of uncertainty in fishing operations. Marine Resource Economics 1 (1): 31-49.

Gaudemet, J.P. and B. Walliser (1983). Méthodologie de l'évaluation des effets macroéconomiques de projets microéconomiques ou d'interventions publiques spécifiques. *Economie et Prévision* 60: 6-31.

Goodwin, H. (1996). In pursuit of ecotourism. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 5: 277-291.

Grafton, R.Q., V.P. Ha and T. Kompas (2004). *Saving the seas: the economic justification for marine reserves*. Working Paper n°402. Economics and Environment Network. Australian National University.

Grafton, R.Q., T. Kompas and V.P. Ha (2005a). *Cod today and none tomorrow: the economic value of marine reserve.* Working Paper n°05-7. Asia Pacific School of Economics and Government. Autralian National University.

Grafton, R.Q., T. Kompas and V. Schneider (2005b). The bioeconomics of marine reserves: a selected review with policy implications. *Journal of Bioeconomics* 7: 161-178.

Graham, R.T. and W.D. Heyman (2000). Can traditional fishermen afford not to guide? Tradeoffs of whale shark tourism vs. fishing on spawning aggregations in a proposed marine reserve. Communication presented at the *Conference on Economics of marine protected areas 2000*, Vancouver, Canada.

Graham T., N. Idechong and K. Sherwood (2001). The Value of Dive-Tourism and the Impacts Of Coral Bleaching on Diving in Palau. In: H.Z. Schuttenberg (ed), *Coral Bleaching: Causes, Consequences and Response*. Selected papers presented at the Ninth International Coral Reef Symposium on "Coral Bleaching: Assessing and Linking Ecological and Socioeconomic Impacts, Future Trends and Mitigation Planning." Coastal Resources Center, University of Rhode Island. Coastal Management Report, n°2230: 59-72.

Grandbois, M. (1999). Ecotourisme et conservation de la biodiversité dans les parcs nationaux du Québec. Téoros 18 (2): 24-29.

Green, E. and R. Donnelly (2003). Recreational scuba diving in Caribbean marine protected areas: Do the users pay? Ambio 32 (2): 140-144.

Guénette, S. and T. Pitcher (1999). An aged structured model showing the benefits of marine reserves in controlling overexploitation. *Fisheries Research* 39: 295-303.

Guénette, S., T. Lauck and C. Clark (1998). Marine reserves: from Beverton and Holt to the present. *Reviews in the Fish Biology and Fisheries* 8: 251-272.

Gulf of Mexico Fishery Management Council (1999). *Marine reserves technical document. A scoping document for the Gulf of Mexico.* Tampa, Florida, Gulf of Mexico Fishery Management Council, NOAA: 41 pp.

Hall, S.J. (1998). Closed areas for fisheries management - the case consolidates. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 13 (8): 297-298.

Hall, S.J. (2002). The use of technical measure in responsible fisheries: Area and Time Restrictions. In: K.L. Cochrane (ed), *A fishery manager's guidebook. Management measures and their application*. Rome, Fisheries Technical Paper n°424, FAO: 49-74.

Hallwood, P. (2004). Protected areas, optimal policing and optimal rent dissipation. Marine Resource Economics 19 (4): 481-493.

Hanley, N. and C. Spash (1993). Cost-Benefit Analysis and the Environment. Edward Elgar Publishing Ltd., Cheltenham.

Hanna, S.S. (1983). Economics of uncertainty: a survey of the literature on uncertainty with particular reference to the fishery. NOAA Technical Memorandum, NMFS-F/NWC - 47.

Hannesson, R. (1993). Bioeconomic Analysis of Fisheries. Fishing News Books, Oxford.

Hannesson, R. (1998). Marine reserves: what would they accomplish? Marine Resource Economics 13: 159-170.

Harriott, V.J., D. Davis and S.A. Banks (1997). Recreational diving and its impacts in marine protected areas in Eastern Australia. *Ambio* 26 (3): 173-179.

Hatcher, B.G. (1998). Can marine protected areas optimize fishery production and biodiversity preservation in the same ecosystem? 50th Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute, Merida, Mexico, GCFI.

Hawkins, J.P. and C.M. Roberts (1993). Effects of recreational scuba diving on coral reefs: trampling on reef-flat communities. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 30 (1): 25-30.

Heal, G. (2000). Valuing ecosystem services. *Ecosystems* 3 (1): 24-30.

Heberlein T.A., G.E. Alfano and L.H. Ervin (1986). Using a social carrying capacity model to estimate the effects of marina development at the Apostle Islands National Lakeshore. *Leisure Sciences* 8 (3): 257-274.

Helvey, M. (2004). Seeking consensus on designing marine protected areas: keeping the fishing community engaged. *Coastal Management* 32: 173-190.

Hicks R.L., J. Kirkley and I.E.J. Strand (2004). Short-run welfare losses from essential fish habitat designations for the surfclam and ocean Quahog fisheries. *Marine Resource Economics* 19 (1): 113-129.

Hilborn, R. and R.B. Kennedy (1992). Spatial pattern in catch rates: a test of economic theory. *Bulletin of Mathematical Biology* 54 (2/3): 263-273.

Hilborn R., K. Stokes, J.-J. Maguire, T. Smith, L.W. Botsford, M. Mangel, J. Orensanz, A. Parma, J. Rice and J. Bell (2004). When can marine reserves improve fisheries management? *Ocean & Coastal Management* 47 (3-4): 197-205.

Hoagland P., Y. Kaoru and J.M. Broadus (1995). *A Methodological Review of Net Benefit Evaluation for Marine Reserve*. World Bank, Environmental Economics Series, Paper n°027: 69 pp.

Hoagland, P. and A.E. Meeks (2000). The demand for whalewatching at Stellwagen Bank National Marine Sanctuary. The economic contribution of whale-watching to regional economies: perspectives from two National Marine Sanctuaries. NOAA. Maryland, Silver Spring.

Hoagland, P., D. Jin and H. Kite-Powell (2002). The optimal allocation of ocean space: aquaculture and wild-harvest fisheries. *Proceedings* of the XIth Biennal Conference of the International Institute of Fisheries Economics and Trade (IIFET). 19-22 August, Wellington, New Zealand: 13.

Hockey, P.A.R. and G.M. Branch (1997). Criteria, objectives and methodology for evaluating marine protected areas in South Africa. *South African Journal of Marine Sciences* 18: 369-383.

Holland, D.S. (2000). A bioeconomic model of marine sanctuaries on Georges Bank. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 57: 1307-1319.

Holland, D.S. (2002). Integrating marine protected areas into models for fishery assessment and management. *Natural Resource Modeling* 15 (3): 369-386.

Holland, D.S. (2004). Spatial fishery rights and marine zoning: a discussion with reference to management of marine resources in New Zealand. *Marine Resource Economics* 19 (1): 21-40.

Holland, D.S. and R.J. Brazee (1996). Marine reserves for fisheries management. Marine Resource Economics 11: 157-171.

Holland, D.S. and J.G. Sutinen (1999). An empirical model of fleet dynamics in New England trawl fisheries. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 56: 253-264.

Holland, D.S., J.N. Sanchirico, R.E. Curtis and R.L. Hicks (2004). An introduction to spatial modeling in fisheries economics. *Marine Resource Economics* 19 (1): 1-6.

Hough, J.L. (1988). Obstacles to effective management conflicts between National Parks and surrounding Human Communities in Developing Countries. *Environmental Conservation* 15 (2): 129-136.

Howarth, R.B. and S. Farber (2002). Accounting for the value of ecosystem services. Ecological Economics 41 (3): 421-429.

Hoyt, E. and G.T. Hvenegaard (2002). A review of whale-watching and whaling with application for the Caribbean. *Coastal Management* 30: 381-399.

Hundloe, T.J. (1980). Parks in the marine environment. In: J. Messer and J.G. Mosley (eds), *The value of national parks to the community:* values and ways of improving the contribution of Australian national parks to the community. Melbourne, Australian Conservation Foundation: 168-184.

Hutton, T., S. Mardle, S. Pascoe and R. Clark (2004). Modelling fishing location choice within mixed fisheries: English North Sea beam trawlers in 2000 and 2001. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 61: 1443-1452.

I.U.C.N. (1998). Economic Values of Protected Areas: Guidelines for Protected Area Managers. Gland, Switzerland. WPCA, IUCN.

I.U.C.N. (2000). *Financing protected areas: Guidelines for protected area managers*. Best Practice Protected Area Guidelines Series No.5, WPCA, IUCN, Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK.

Irving Oxley, A.C. and R.D. Brown (2003). Sustainability of wilderness sea kayaking in the bay of Fundy, Canada. *Ocean and Coastal Management* 46 (1/2): 189-197.

Jamieson, G.S. and C.O. Levings (2001). Marine protected areas in Canada - Implications for both conservation and fisheries management. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 58: 138-156.

Johansson, P.O. (1996). Commodity Prices as Payment vehicles in Valuation Experiments. *Environmental and Resources Economics*, 8 (2): 247-254

Johnson, D.R., N.A. Funicelli and J.A. Bohnsack (1999). Effectiveness of an existing estuarine no-take fish sanctuary within the Kennedy Space Center, Florida. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 19: 436-453.

Jones, P.J.S. (1994). A review and analysis of the objectives of marine nature reserves. Ocean and Coastal Management 24: 149-178.

Kamukuru, A.T., Y.D. Mgaya and M.C. Ohman (2004). Evaluating a marine protected area in a developing country: Mafia Island Marine Park, Tanzania. *Ocean & Coastal Management* 47 (7-8): 321-337.

Kaunda-Arara, B. and G.A. Rose (2004). Effects of marine reef National Parks on fishery CPUE in coastal Kenya. *Biological Conservation* 118 (1): 1-13.

Kaza, S. (1995). Marine education and interpretation. In: S. Gubbay (ed), *Marine protected areas - Principles and techniques for management*. Chapman and Hall, London: 174-198.

Kelleher, G. (1996). Case Studies - The Great Barrier Reef, Australia. The contribution of Science to Integrated Coastal Management. GESAMP (IMO/FAO/UNESCO-IOC/WMO/WHO/IAE/UN/UNEP Joint Group of experts on the scientific aspects of marine environment protection). Reports and Studies n°61, FAO, Rome.

Kelleher, G. and R.A. Kenchington (1984). Australia's Great Barrier Reef Marine Park: making development compatible with conservation. In: J.A. McNeely and M.L. Miller (eds), *National park, conservation and development*. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington D.C.: 267-272.

Kelly, S., D. Scott and A.B. MacDiarmid (2002). The value of a spillover fishery for Spiny Lobster around a marine reserve in Northern New Zealand. *Coastal Management* 30 (2): 153-166.

Kenchington, R. (1991). Tourism development in the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park. Ocean and Shoreline Management 15: 57-78.

Kenchington, R. (1993). Tourism in coastal and marine environments - A recreational perspective. *Ocean and Coastal Management* 19 (1): 1-16.

Lam, M. (1998). Consideration of customary marine tenure system in the establishment of marine protected areas in the South Pacific. Ocean and Coastal Management 39 (1-2): 97-104.

Lauck, T., C.W. Clark, M. Mangel and G.R. Munro (1998). Implementing the precautionary principle in fisheries management through marine reserves. *Ecological Applications* 8 (Suppl. 1): S72-S78.

Layman, R.C., J.R. Boyce and K.R. Criddle (1996). Chinook Salmon Sport Fishery. Land Economics 72 (1): 113-128.

Le Gallic, B. (2001). Modélisation bioéconomique et gestion durable d'un système complexe de ressources communes renouvelables. Application au cas des pêcheries de la Manche. Thèse de doctorat en Sciences Economiques. UBO, Brest: 361pp.

Le Goffe, P. (1999). Evaluation des politiques publiques d'assainissement en zone littorale: l'analyse coûts-bénéfices appliquée au cas de la rade de Brest. In: P. Point (ed), *La valeur économique des hydrosystèmes. Méthodes et modèles d'évaluation des services délivrés*. Economica, Paris: 63-79.

Leeworthy, V.R. and P.C. Wiley (1997). A socioeconomic analysis of the recreation activities of Monroe County residents in the Florida Keys/ Key West. Silver Spring, MD, NOAA: 46 pp.

Leeworthy, V.R. and P. Wiley (2002). Socioeconomic impact analysis of marine reserve alternatives for the Channel Islands National Marine Sanctuary. Silver Spring, MD, NOAA: 118 pp.

Lindberg, K. (1991). Policies for maximizing nature tourism's ecological and economic benefits. World Resources Institute: 37 pp.

Lindberg, K. and E. Halpenny (2001). Protected area visitor fees. Paper prepared as part of the "Generating revenue through ecotourism for Marine Protected Areas in Belize": 11 pp.

Lindberg, K. and R.M. Huber (1993). Economic issues in ecotourism management. In: K. Lindberg and D.E. Hawkins (eds), *Ecotourism:* A guide for planners and managers. North Bennington, Vermont, The Ecotourism Society: Chapter 4.

Loomis, J. and D.M. Larson (1994). Total economic values of increasing grey whale populations: results from a contingent valuation survey of visitors and households. *Marine Resource Economics* 9: 275-286.

Loomis, J.B., M. Lockwood and T. Delacy (1993). Some Empirical Evidence on Embedding Effects in Contingent Valuation of Forest Protection. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 25 (1):45-55.

Ludwig, D., R. Hilborn and C.J. Walters (1993). Uncertainty, resource exploitation, and conservation: lessons from history. *Ecological Applications* 3 (4): 547-549.

Lynch, T.P., E. Wilkinson, L. Melling, R. Hamilton, A. Macready and S. Feary (2004). Conflict and impacts of divers and anglers in a marine park. *Environmental Management* 33 (2): 196-211.

Mahevas, S. and D. Pelletier (2004). ISIS-Fish, a generic and spatially explicit simulation tool for evaluating the impact of management measures on fisheries dynamics. *Ecological Modelling* 171 (1-2): 65-84.

Mangel, M. (1998). No-take marine areas for sustainability of harvested species and a conservation invariant for marine reserves. *Ecology Letters* 1: 87-90.

Mangel, M. (2000). Irreducible uncertainties, sustainable fisheries and marine reserves. Evolutionary Ecology Research 2 (4): 547-557.

Marion, J.L. and C.S. Rogers (1994). The applicability of terrestrial visitor impact management strategies to the protection of coral reefs. *Ocean and Coastal Management* 22: 153-163.

Mazaudier, L. and J.C. Michaud (2000). Gestion des activités d'observation des mammifères marins: quelques études de cas. *Revue de l'Université de Moncton* Numéro Hors Série: 55-80.

McArdle, D.A. (1997). Marine protected areas should be managed with greater integration. California Agriculture 51 (4): 33-34.

McClanahan, T.R. and S. Mangi (2000). Spillover of exploitable fishes from marine park and its effect on the adjacent fishery. *Ecological Applications* 10 (6): 1792-1805.

Meganck, R.A. (1991). Coastal parks as development catalysts: a Caribbean example. Ocean and Shoreline Management 15: 25-36.

Milazzo, M., F. Badalamenti, T. Vega-Fernández and R. Chemello (2005). Effects of fish feeding by snorkellers on the density and size distribution of fishes in a Mediterranean marine protected area. *Marine Biology* 146: 1213-1222.

Milner-Gulland, E.J. and N. Leader-Williams (1992). A model of incentives for the illegal exploitation of black rhinos and elephants: poaching pays in Luangwa Valley, Zambia. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 29: 388-401.

Milon, J.W. (2000). Pastures, fences, tragedies and marine reserves. Bulletin of Marine Science 66 (3): 901-916.

Mistiaen, J.A. and I.E. Strand (2000). Location choice of commercial fishermen with heterogeneous risk preferences. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* 82 (5): 1184-1190.

Mitchell, B.A. and J.R. Barborak (1991). Developing coastal park systems in tropics: panning in the Turks and Caicos Islands. *Coastal Management* 19: 113-134.

Mitchell, L.R.C. and R.T. Carson (1989). *Using Surveys to Value Public Goods: The Contingent Valuation Method*. John Hopkins University Press.

Mondardini, G. (1998). Traditional use rights in the small-scale fisheries and marine protected areas between Sardinia and Corsica. In: D. Symes (ed), *Property Rights and Regulatory Systems in Fisheries*. Fishing News Book, Blackwell Science Ltd, Oxford: 188-200.

Morin, D.T. (2004). An approach for integrating economic impact analysis into the evaluation of potential marine protected area sites. *Journal of Environmental Management* 70 (4): 333-349.

Moscardo, G. and J. Ormsby (2004). A social indicators monitoring system for tourist and recreational use of the Great Barrier Reef. Townsville, Research Publication n°80, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority: 44 pp.

Moscardo, G., R. Saltzer, A. Galletly, A. Burke and A. Hildebrandt (2003). *Changing patterns of reef tourism*. CRC Reef Research Centre Technical Report n°49, Townsville: 63 pp.

Munasinghe, M. and J.A. McNeely (1994a). An introduction to protected area economics and policy. In: M. Munasinghe and J.A McNeely (eds), *Protected area economics and policy. Linking conservation and sustainable development.* World Bank & World Conservation Union (IUCN), Washington, D.C.: 1-12.

Munasinghe, M. and J.A. McNeely, Eds. (1994b). *Protected area economics and policy. Linking conservation and sustainable development.* World Bank & World Conservation Union (IUCN), Washington D.C.

Mundet, L. and L. Ribera (2001). Characteristics of divers at a Spanish resort. Tourism Management 22 (5): 501-510.

Murawski, S.A. (2000). Definitions of overfishing from an ecosystem perspective. ICES Journal of Marine Science 57 (3): 649-658.

Murawski, S.A., R. Brown, H.L. Lai, P.J. Rago and L. Hendrickson (2000). Large-scale closed areas as a fishery management tool in temperate marine systems: the Georges Bank experience. *Bulletin of Marine Science* 66 (3): 775-798.

Murphy, P.E. (1983). Tourism in Canada: selected issues and option. Western Geographical Series 21: 3-23.

Murray, S.N., R.F. Ambrose, J.A. Bohnsack, L.W. Botsford, M.H. Carr, G.E. Davis, P.K. Dayton, D. Gotshall, D.R. Gunderson, M.A. Hixon, J. Lubchenco, M. Mangel, A. Maccall, D.A. Mcardle, J.C. Ogden, J. Roughgarden, R.M. Starr, M.J. Tegner and M.M. Yoklavich (1999a). No-take reserve networks: sustaining fishery populations and marine ecosystems. *Fisheries* 24 (11): 11-25.

Murray, S.N., T.G. Denis, J.S. Kido and J.R. Smith (1999b). Human visitation and the frequency and potential effects of collecting on rocky intertidal populations in Southern California marine reserves. *CalCOFI Rep.* 40: 100-106.

Myers, N. (1972). National parks in Savannah Africa. Science 178: 1225-1263.

National Park Service (2000). Glacier Bay Compensation Plan Economic Assessment. US. National Park Service: 73 pp.

National Research Council (2001). *Marine Protected Areas: Tools for Sustaining Ocean Ecosystem.* Committee on the Evaluation, Design and Monitoring of Marine Reserves and Protected Areas in the United States, Ocean Studies Board, National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.

Norse, E.A., Ed. (1993). *Global marine biological diversity. A strategy for building conservation into decision making*. Center for Marine Conservation and Island Press, Washington D.C.

O'neill, J. (1993). Alternative support for protected areas in age of deficits. Oceanus 36 (3): 49-52.

Orams, M.B. (2002). Humpack Whales in Tonga: An Economic Resource for Tourism. Coastal Management 30 (4): 361-380.

Ormsby, J., G. Moscardo, P. Pearce and J. Foxlee (2004). *A review of research into tourist and recreational uses of protected natural areas*. Research Publication n°79, Great Barrier Reef marine Park Authority, Townsville: 57 pp.

Palumbi, S.R. (2002). Marine Reserves: a tool for ecosystem management and conservation. PEW Oceans Commission: 45 pp.

Parrish, R. (1999). Marine reserves for fisheries management: why not? Calif. Coop. Oceanic Fisheries Investigations Reports 40: 77-86.

Parrish, R., J. Seger and M. Yoklavich (2001). *Marine reserves to supplement management of West Coast Groundfish Resources*. Phase I: Technical Analysis. Portland, Oregon, Pacific Fishery Management Council, NOAA, Portland, Oregon: 62 pp.

Pauly, D., V. Christensen, J. Dalsgaard, R. Froese and F. Torres (1998). Fishing down the marine food webs. Science 279: 860-863.

Pearce, D.W. and R.K. Turner (1990). Economics of Natural Resources and the Environment. Harvester Weatsheaf, London.

Pelletier, D. and S. Mahevas (2005). Spatially explicit fisheries simulation models for policy evaluation. Fish and Fisheries 6: 307-349.

Pendleton, L.H. (1995). Valuing coral reef protection. Ocean and Coastal Management 26 (2): 119-131.

Pérez, L., J. Barreiro, M. Sánchez and M. Azpilicueta (1996). La valeur d'usage à des fins de loisir des espaces protégés en Espagne. Cahiers d'Economie et Sociologie Rurales 41: 40-56.

Pezzey, J.C.V., C.M. Roberts and B.J. Urdal (2000). A simple bioeconomic model of a marine reserve. Ecological Economics 33 (1): 77-91.

Pickering H., Ed. (2003). The Value of Exclusion Zones as a Fisheries Management Tool: A strategic evaluation and the development of an analytical framework for Europe. CEMARE Report, University of Portsmouth, UK: 405 pp.

Plan Development Team (1990). The potential of marine fishery reserves for reef fish management in the U.S. Southern Atlantic. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-SEFC-261, Miami: 40 pp.

Point, P. (1990). Economie de l'environnement et du patrimoine naturel - Introduction. Revue Economique 41 (2): 181-194.

Point, P. (1992). Les services rendus par le patrimoine naturel. Economie et Statistique n°258-259: 11-18.

Point, P. (1998). Les parcs nationaux face à leurs habitants et leurs usagers. In: B. Barraque and J. Theys (eds), *Les politiques d'environnement - Evaluation de la première génération: 1971-1995.* Paris, Editions Recherches: 235-255.

Polacheck, T. (1990). Year around closed areas as a management tool. Natural Resource Modeling 4 (3): 327-354.

Polasky, S., A. Solow and J.M Broadus (1993). Searching for uncertain benefits and the conservation of biological diversity. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 3: 171-181.

Pollnac, R.B., B.R. Crawford and M.L.G. Gorospe (2001). Discovering factors that influence the success of community-based marine protected areas in the Visayas, Philippines. *Ocean & Coastal Management* 44 (11-12): 683-710.

Polunin, N.V.C. (2002). Marine protected areas, fish and fisheries. In: P.J.B. Hart and J.D. Reynolds (eds), *Handbook of fish biology and fisheries*. Blackwell, tome 2: 293-318.

Polunin, N.V.C., I. Williams, J. Carrier and L. Robertson (2000). *Ecological and social impacts in planning Caribbean marine reserves*. Strategy for Research on Renewable Natural Resources, Natural Resources Systems Programme. Final Technical Report R6783, DFID, University of Newcastle: 74 pp.

Post, J.C. (1994). The economic feasibility and ecological sustainability of the Bonaire Marine Park, Dutch Antilles. In: M. Munasinghe and J.A. McNeely (eds), *Protected area economics and policy. Linking conservation and sustainable development.* World Bank & World Conservation Union (IUCN), Washington D.C.: 333-338.

Quinn, J.F., S.R. Wing and L.W Botsford (1993). Harvest refugia in marine invertebrate fisheries: models and application to the Red Sea Urchin, *Strongylocentrotus franciscanus*. *American Zoologist* 33: 537-550.

Ramos, A.A. (1992). Impacts biologiques et économiques de la réserve maritime de Tabarca. *MEDPAN News* 3 (Ajaccio Special Issue): 59-66.

Randall, A. and J.R. Stoll (1983). Existence value in a total valuation framework. In: R.D. Rowe and L.G. Chestnut (eds), *Managing air quality and scenic resources at national parks*. Westivew Press, Boulder, Colorado: 265-274.

Rettig, R.B. (1994). Who should pay to preserve the marine environment? Marine Resource Economics 9 (1): 87-94.

Ribera-Siguan, M.A. (1992). Réserve naturelle des îles Mèdes et fréquentation touristique régionale. *MEDPAN News* 3 (Ajaccio Special Issue): 51-57.

Richez, G. (1992). La fréquentation du Parc National de Port-Cros (France) par les plongeurs sous-marins, durant l'été 1990. *MEDPAN News* 3 (Ajaccio Special Issue): 85-89.

Rieser, A. (2000). Essential fish habitat as a basis for marine protected areas in the U.S. exclusive economic zone. *Bulletin of Marine Science* 66 (3): 889-899.

Roberts, C. and J. Hawkins (2000). Fully protected marine reserves: a guide. Endangered Seas Campaign, WWF, Washington D.C.

Roberts, C.M. (2000). Why does fishery management so often fail. In: M. Huxham and D. Sumner (eds), *Science and environmental decision-making*. Prentice Hall, UK: 170-192.

Roberts, C.M. and N.V.C. Polunin (1993). Marine reserves: simple solutions to managing complex fisheries? Ambio 22 (6): 363-368.

Roberts, C.M., J.A. Bohnsack, F. Gell, J.P. Hawkins and R. Goodridge (2001). Effects of marine reserves on adjacent fisheries. *Science* 294: 1920-1923.

Robinson, A.H. (1977). Recreation, interpretation and environmental education in marine parks: concepts, planning, techniques and future directions. *International Conference on Marine Parks and Reserves*, Tokyo, Japan 1975, Bulletin of Marine Parks and Reserves.

Rowe, R.D., D.S. Brookshire, C. Ralph and R.C. d'Arge (1980). An Experiment on the Economic Value of Visibility. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 7 (1): 1-19

Rowley, R.J. (1994). Case studies and reviews: Marine reserves in fisheries management. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 4: 233-254.

Rudd, M.A. and M.H. Tupper (2002). The impact of Nassau Grouper size and abundance on scuba diver site selection and MPA economics. Coastal Management 30 (2): 133-151.

Russ, G.R. and A.C. Alcala (1996). Marine reserves: rates and patterns of recovery and decline of large predatory fish. *Ecological Applications* 6 (3): 947-961.

Sabourin, A. and S. Pennanguer (2003). Le parc national en mer d'Iroise: un territoire, un projet et des hommes. Programme de recherche "Espaces protégés". CEDEM - UBO, IFREMER, Portances Conseils, C3ED, Brest: 165 pp.

Salm, R.S. and J.R. Clark (2000). *Marine and coastal protected areas: a guide for planners and managers*. 3rd Edition. Gland, Switzerland, IUCN.

Salm, R.V. (1985). Integrating marine conservation and tourism. International Journal of Environmental Studies 25: 229-235.

Salmona, P. and D. Verardi (2001). The marine protected area of Portofino, Italy: a difficult balance. *Ocean & Coastal Management* 44 (1-2): 39-60.

Sanchirico, J.N. (2000a). *Marine protected areas as fishery policy: a discussion of potential costs and benefits*. Discussion paper n°00-23. Washington DC, Resources for the Future.

Sanchirico, J.N. (2000b). Marine protected areas: can they revitalize our nation's fisheries? Resources (140): 6-9.

Sanchirico, J.N. (2004). Designing a cost-effective marine reserve network: a bioeconomic metapopulation analysis. *Marine Resource Economics* 19 (1): 41-65.

Sanchirico, J.N. (2005). Additivity properties in metapopulation models: implications for the assessment of marine reserve. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 49: 1-25.

Sanchirico, J.N. and J.E. Wilen (1999). Bioeconomics of spatial exploitation in a patchy environment. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 37: 129-150.

Sanchirico, J.N. and J.E. Wilen (2001). A Bioeconomic Model of Marine Reserve Creation. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 42 (3): 257-276.

Sanchirico, J.N. and J.E. Wilen (2002). The impacts of marine reserves on limited entry fisheries. Natural Resource Modeling 15 (3): 291-310.

Sanchirico, J.N., K.A. Cochran and P.M. Emerson (2002). *Marine protected areas: economic and social implications*. Discussion paper. Washington DC, Resources for the Future.

Schaeffer, T.N., M.S. Foster, M.E. Mandrau and R.K. Walker (1999). Diver disturbance in kelp forests. *California Fish and Game* 85(4): 170-176.

Schmidt, K.F. (1997). No-take zone Spark fisheries debate. Science 277: 489-491.

Schnier, K.E. (2005). Biological "hot spots" and their effect on optimal bioeconomic marine reserve formation. *Ecological Economics* 52 (4): 453-468.

Scholz, A., K. Bonzon, R. Fujita, N. Benjamin, N. Woodling, P. Black and C. Steinback (2004). Participatory socioeconomic analysis: drawing on fishermen's knowledge for marine protected area planning in California. *Marine Policy* 28 (4): 335-349.

Seijo, J.C. and O. Defeo (1994). Dynamics of resource and fishermen behaviour in coastal invertebrate fisheries. In: M. Antona, J. Catanzano and J. Sutinen (eds), *Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> Conference of the International Institute of Fisheries Economics and Trade, Paris, 6-9 July 1992.* IFREMER, Paris: 209-202.

Seijo, J.C., J.F. Caddy and J. Euan (1993). SPATIAL: Space-Time Dynamics in Marine Fisheries, a Software Package for Sedentary Species. FAO, Rome.

Shaalan, I.M. (2005). Sustainable tourism development in the Red Sea of Egypt threats and opportunities. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 13 (2): 83-87.

Shackell, N.L. and J.H.M. Willison, Eds. (1995). *Marine protected areas and sustainable fisheries*. Wolfville, Nova Scotia, Canada, Science and Management of Protected Areas Association (SAMPA).

Shafer, C.S. and G.J. Inglis (2000). Influence of social, biophysical and managerial conditions on tourism experiences within the Great Barrier world Heritage Area. *Environmental Management* 26 (1): 73-87.

Shafer, S.C. and D. Benzaken (1998). User perceptions about marine wilderness on Australia's Great Barrier Reef. *Coastal Management* 26: 79-91.

Shipp, R.L. (2002). *No take Marine Protected Areas, as a fishery management tool, in a pragmatic perspective.* A report to the Fish America Foundation: 8 pp.

Shivlani, M.P. and D. Suman (2000). Dive operator use patterns in the designated no-take zones of the Florida Keys National Marine Sancturay (FKNMS). *Environmental Management* 25 (6): 647-659.

Sibly, H. (2001). Pricing and management of recreational activities which use natural resources. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 18: 339-354.

Smit, W. (1995). Economic effects of closing areas of the North Sea for the Dutch near water fisheries. *Proceedings of the VIIth Annual Conference of the European Association of Fisheries Economist.* Portsmouth 1995, CEMARE: 113-125.

Smith, V.K. and W.H. Desvousges (1985). The Generalized Travel Cost Model and Water Quality Benefits: A Reconsideration. *Southern Economic Journal* 52: 371-381.

Smith, M.D. and J.E. Wilen (2003). Economic impacts of marine reserves: the importance of spatial behavior. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 46: 183-206.

Smith, M.D. and J.E. Wilen (2004). Marine reserves with endogenous ports: Empirical bioeconomics of the California sea urchin fishery. *Marine Resource Economics* 19 (1): 85-112.

Smyth, D. (1995). Carring for sea country - accommodating indigenous peoples' interests in marine protected areas. In: S. Gubbay (ed), *Marine protected areas - Principles and techniques for management*. Chapman and Hall, London: 149-172.

Somers, I. and Y.-G. Wang (1997). A simulation model for evaluating seasonal closures in Australia's multispecies northern prawn fishery. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 17: 114-130.

Somerton, D.A. and J. June (1984). A cost-benefit method for determining optimum closed fishing areas to reduce the trawl catch of prohibited species. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 41: 93-98.

Southwick, R. (2002). The economic effects of sportfishing closures in marine protected areas. The Channel Islands example. Fernandina Beach, FL., Prepared for the American Sportfishing Association United Anglers of Southern California: 6 pages + annexes.

Spoto, M. and C. Franzosini (1991). The natural marine reserve of Miramare (Trieste, Italy): tourism and environmental education. *Ocean and Shoreline Management* 16: 53-59.

Squire, L. and H.G. van der Tak (1985). Analyse économique des projets. Editions Economica / Banque Mondiale, Paris.

Stewart, M.C. (1993). Sustainable tourism development and marine conservation regimes. Ocean and Coastal Management 20 (3): 201-217.

Strand, I.E.J. (2004). Spatial variation in risk preferences among Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico pelagic longline fishermen. *Marine Resource Economics* 19 (1): 145-160.

Sumaila, U.R. (1998a). Protected marine reserve as hedges against uncertainty: an economist's perspective. In: T.J. Pitcher, P.J.B. Hart and D. Pauly (eds), *Reinventing fisheries management*. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands: 303-309.

Sumaila, U.R. (1998b). Protected marine reserves as fisheries management tools: a bioeconomic analysis. *Fisheries Research* 37 (1-3): 287-296.

Sumaila, U.R. (2002). Marine protected area performance in a model of the fishery. Natural Resource Modeling 15 (4): 439-451.

Sumaila, U.R. and A.T. Charles (2002). Economic models of marine protected areas: an introduction. Natural Resource Modeling 15 (3): 261-271.

Sumaila, U.R., S. Guénette, J. Alder and R. Chuenpadgee (2000). Addressing ecosystem effects of fishing using marine protected areas. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 57 (3): 752-760.

Suman, D.O. and M.P. Shivlani (1998). Characterization of the commercial dive operator industry in the Florida Keys National Marine Park. Gainesville, Florida Sea Grant Technical Paper, N°103: 26 pp.

Suman, D.O., M.P. Shivlani and J.W. Milon (1999). Perceptions and attitudes regarding marine reserves: a comparison of stakeholder groups in the Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary. *Ocean & Coastal Management* 42 (12): 1019-1040.

Sutinen, J.G. and K. Kuperan (1999). A socioeconomic theory of regulatory compliance in fisheries. *International Journal of Social Economics* 26 (1/2/3): 174-193.

Syms, C. and M.H. Carr (2001). Marine protected areas: evaluating MPA effectiveness in an uncertain world. Scoping paper presented at the *Guidelines for Measuring Management Effectiveness in Marine Protected Areas Workshop*, Monterey, California 2001, North American Commission for Environmental Cooperation.

Thebaud, O. and J.C. Soulié (2003). Short term analysis of fisheries dynamics: a multi-agent simulation approach. Proceedings of the *International Congress on Modelling and Simulation. Integrative Modelling of Biophysical Social and Economic Systems for Resource Management Solutions*, Townsville, Queensland, Australie 2003, International Society for Computer Simulation.

Ticco, P.C. (1995). The use of marine protected areas to preserve and enhance marine biological diversity: a case study approach. *Coastal Management* 23 (4): 309-314.

Tisdell, C.A. (1991). *Economics of Environmental Conservation. Economics for environmental and ecological management*. Amsterdam, Elsevier Science B.V.

Tisdell, C.A. and J.M. Broadus (1989). Policy issues related to the establishment and management of marine reserves. *Coastal Management* 17: 37-53.

Tongson, E. and M. Dygico (2004). User fee system for marine ecotourism: the Tubbataha Reef experience. Coastal Management 32: 17-23.

Tunesi, L. and G. Diviacco (1993). Environmental and socio-economic criteria for the establishing of marine coastal park. *International Journal of Environmental Studies* 43: 253-259.

U.N.E.P. (1994). *Ecotourism in the Wider Caribbean region: an assessment*. Kingston, Technical Report n°31 - Caribbean Environment Programme Technical.

Valentine, P.S., A. Birtles, M. Curnock, P. Arnold and A. Dunstan (2004). Getting closer to whales: passenger expectations and experiences, and the management of swim with dwarf minke whale interactions in the Great Barrier Reef. *Tourism Management* 25 (6): 647-655.

Vaughan, W.J. and C.S. Russell (1982). Valuing a fishing day: An application of a varying parameter fishing model. *Land Economics* 58: 450-462.

Vogt, H.P. (1998). The economic benefits of tourism in the marine reserve of Apo Island, Philippines. Intercoast Network 31: 13-14.

Vourc'h, A. and J.-M. Natali, Eds. (2000). Sites Naturels: contribution du tourisme à leur gestion et à leur entretien. Les Cahiers de l'AFIT: Guide de Savoir Faire. AFIT. Paris.

Walters, C.W. and R. Bonfil (1999). Multispecies spatial assessment models for the British Columbia groundfish trawl fishery. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 56: 601-628.

Walters, C.W., N. Hall, R. Brown and C. Chubb (1993). Spatial model for the population dynamics and exploitation of the western Australian rock lobster *Palinurus cygnus*. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 50: 1650-1662.

Walters, C.W., D. Pauly and V. Christensen (1999). Ecospace: prediction of mesoscale spatial patterns in trophic relationships of exploited ecosystems, with emphasis on the impact of marine protected areas. *Ecosystems* 2: 539-554.

Watson, M., R.F.G. Ormond and L. Holliday (1997). The role of Kenya's marine protected areas in artisanal fisheries management. Proceedings of the 8th International Coral Reef Symposium, Panama: 1955-1960.

Watson, R.A., D.J. Die and V.R. Restrepo (1993). Closed seasons and tropical penaeid fisheries: a simulation including fleet dynamics and uncertainty. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 13 (2): 326-336.

Weaver, D.B. (2002). The evolving concept of ecotourism and its potential impacts. *International Journal of Sustainable Development* 5 (3): 251-264.

Weisbrod, B.A. (1964). Collective-consumption services of individual-consumption goods. Quaterly Journal of Economics 78: 471-477.

Weitzman, M.L. (1992). On diversity. Quarterly Journal of Economics 107 (2): 363-405.

Weitzman, M.L. (1993). What to preserve? An application of diversity theory to crane conservation. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 108 (1): 157-183.

Weitzman, M.L. (1998). The Noah's ark problem. Econometrica 66 (6): 1279-1298.

Wells, B. and K. Brandon (1992). Peoples and parks: linking protected area management with local communities. World Bank, WWF, USAID, Washington D.C.

Wells, M.P. (1997). *Economic perspectives on nature tourism, conservation and development*. Environment Department Paper n°55, Environmentally Sustainable Development, The World Bank, Washington D.C.: 54 pp.

Wells, S. and A.T. White (1995). Involving the community. In: S. Gubbay (ed), *Marine protected areas - Principles and techniques for management*. Chapman and Hall, London: 61-84.

White, A.T. (1986). Philippine Marine Park Pilot Site: benefits and management conflicts. Environmental Conservation 14 (1): 355-359.

White, A.T., A. Salamanca and C.A. Courtney (2002). Experience with marine protected area planning and management in the Philippines. Coastal Management 30 (1): 1-26.

White, A.T., H.P. Vogt and T. Arin (2000). Philippine Coral Reefs Under Threat: The Economic Losses Caused by Reef Destruction. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 40 (7): 598-605.

Whitehead, J.C., T.C. Haab and J-C. Huang (1999). *Measuring Recreation Benefits of Quality Improvements with Revealed and Stated Behavior Data*. Working Paper n° 9902. East Carolina University, Department of Economics.

Whitmarsh, D.J., C. James, H. Pickering, C. Pipitone, F. Badalamenti and G. d'Anna (2002). Economic effects of fisheries exclusion zones: A sicilian case study. *Marine Resource Economics* 17: 239-250.

Wicks, B.E. and J.L. Crompton (1986). Citizen and administrator perspectives of equity in the delivery of park services. *Leisure Sciences* 8 (4): 341-365.

Wielgus, J., N.E. Chadwick-Furman, N. Zeitouni and M. Shechter (2003). Effects of coral reef attribute damage on recreational welfare. *Marine Resource Economics* 18: 225-237.

Wilen, J.E. (2004). Spatial management fisheries. Marine Resource Economics 19 (1): 7-19.

Wilen, J.E., M.D. Smith, D. Lockwood and L.W. Botsford (2002). Avoiding surprises: incorporating fisherman behavior into management models. *Bulletin of Marine Science* 70: 553-575.

Willis, T.J., R.B. Millar, R.C. Babcock and N. Tolimieri (2003). Burdens of evidence and the benefits of marine reserves: putting Descartes before des horse? *Environmental Conservation* 30 (2): 97-103.

Zabala, M. (1999). Recreation in Mediterranean marine parks: limits and perspectives. In: F. Briand (ed), *Scientific design and monitoring of Mediterranean marine protected areas*. Monaco, CIESM Workshop Series n°8: 51-52.

Zakai, D. and N.E. Chadwick-Furman (2002). Impacts of intensive recreational diving on reef corals at Eilat, northern Red Sea. *Biological Conservation* 105 (2): 179-187.

